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Gary Allen, Chairman

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘OUR BUSINESSES PROVIDE
A SPREAD OF RISK IN BOTH GEOGRAPHICAL AND END
MARKETS.  IN 2003 THIS PROVED TO BE BENEFICIAL IN
RESPECT OF BOTH OPERATING ACTIVITIES AND
CURRENCY MOVEMENTS.’
Gary Allen, Chairman
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In my report to shareholders this time last year, I said that although

we expected 2003 to present a challenge, we were looking to build

on the solid foundation we had been laying across the Group. Our

interim results confirmed that we were making good progress and

our final results for the year to 31 December 2003 further

demonstrate the underlying strength of our businesses. It is 

pleasing to be able to report improved profit and earnings and

another year of substantial cash generation underpinning our 

strong balance sheet.

Our businesses provide a spread of risk in both geographical and

end markets. In 2003 this proved to be beneficial in respect of both

operating activities and currency movements.

After a first half where volumes were similar to last year, the second

half was some 5% higher leaving year on year volumes on a like for

like basis around 3% ahead. Good organic growth was shown in

Severe Service, Fluid Power and Merchandising Systems with more

modest growth in Indoor Climate and Building Products. Underlying

volumes in Beverage Dispense were flat.

Our recent acquisitions performed well with a full year of DCI

Marketing and a fourth quarter contribution from Artform helping to

produce a very encouraging result in Merchandising Systems. STI

and Fluid Kinetics are now established within Severe Service and

Commtech’s results in Indoor Climate were on track.

Once again, all our businesses generated excellent cash with further

reductions in working capital producing operating cash ahead of

operating profit for the third year running.

With the weakening in the US dollar largely offset by the

strengthening of the euro, the impact from translation on reported

sales, profit and cash flow in 2003 was not material.

The Board is recommending the payment of an unchanged final

dividend of 9.5p making a total of 15.5p (2002: 15.5p) for the year.

It was the Board’s intention at the outset to maintain the dividend

during the three year programme of restructuring and repositioning:

our strong cash performance has meant that our cash cover has

been more than adequate throughout.

Results summary

Group sales at £1573m compare with £1612m reported last year.

Sales of continuing businesses at £1565m (2002: £1453m) included

£68m from acquisitions.

Profit before tax, exceptional items, goodwill amortisation and

rationalisation costs increased by 8.4% to £142.6m (2002: £131.5m)

and by 12.7% after adjusting for the £5m SSAP24 pension credit in

2002 no longer applicable.

Rationalisation costs for the year at £5.7m were at a more normal

level compared to the significant restructuring costs of £32.2m last

year and £44.6m in 2001.

The resulting profit before tax, exceptional items and goodwill

amortisation was £136.9m (2002: £99.3m) and profit before tax at

£117.2m (2002: £74.3m) was some 58% ahead of last year.

The effective tax charge for the year is 33% (2002: 32%). Adjusted

earnings per share increased by 7% to 26.8p (2002: 25.0p) and basic

earnings per share increased by 28% to 20.1p (2002: 15.7p).

Net operating cash flow was £196m (2002: £220m) and free cash flow

before dividends and corporate activity was £142m (2002: £189m).

Dividends cost £55m, a cash cover of 2.6 times. Acquisitions during the

year, comprising Artform (Merchandising Systems), Commtech (Indoor

Climate) and Fluid Kinetics (Severe Service), absorbed £62m. In October

we sold our small air-conditioning business for around its net asset value

of £2m.

Interest cost for the year was reduced to £10.9m (2002: £16.7m) largely

as a result of reduced borrowings. Interest was covered 14 times 

(2002: 9 times) based on operating profit before goodwill amortisation

and rationalisation costs.

Net cash flow of £33.5m and a small currency translation benefit meant

net borrowings were reduced  to £136m (2002: £173m) giving balance

sheet gearing of 25% (2002: 33%).

European Commission enquiry

I have reported to shareholders previously that the European

Commission is investigating allegations of anti-competitive behaviour

among certain manufacturers of copper tube and copper fittings.

Notwithstanding IMI’s disposal of its Copper Tube and Copper Fittings

businesses in 2002, it retains responsibility in relation to the European

Commission’s investigations in respect of those businesses. In

September 2003 IMI received a Statement of Objections in respect of

copper plumbing tube and this investigation is expected to result in a

fine during the next six months. The copper fittings investigation is at

an earlier stage, with a Statement of Objections expected within the

next twelve months and a decision on any fine unlikely to be made by

the Commission before the second half of 2005. It is not possible to

give any reliable estimate of the likely level of fines in either case.

Management changes

In December we announced that Barry Pointon, having served on the

Board for nine years, has decided to retire at the end of March. In the

past three years Barry has played a key role in IMI’s corporate activity and

the move to lower cost manufacturing, and I thank him for his 22 years’

service to the Group.

At the same time, we announced two new executive director

appointments with effect from 1 March: David Nicholas responsible for

Fluid Controls and Wayne Whitney responsible for Retail Dispense.

These changes strengthen the executive team and will, in due course,

enable Martin Lamb to focus more of his time on the strategic

development of the Group.

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘OUR BUSINESSES PROVIDE
A SPREAD OF RISK IN BOTH GEOGRAPHICAL AND END
MARKETS.  IN 2003 THIS PROVED TO BE BENEFICIAL IN
RESPECT OF BOTH OPERATING ACTIVITIES AND
CURRENCY MOVEMENTS.’

Outlook

In our Trading Update in December we reported that there were signs

of a modest improvement in some of our markets. This trend has

continued. The improving external economic conditions and the

internal advances we have achieved in our businesses provide a sound

platform for us to make further progress.

IMI commitment

Our people, individually and collectively, work with an energy,

enthusiasm and determination that indicates their commitment.This

hard work, focus and sense of purpose give our business its

competitive edge and we are grateful for the outstanding level of

support shown by our employees throughout the year.

Gary Allen 

Chairman

8 March 2004
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Martin Lamb, Chief Executive

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘LOOKING AHEAD, OUR
FOCUS HAS MOVED AWAY FROM OPERATIONAL
RESTRUCTURING TO DELIVERING GROWTH.’
Martin Lamb, Chief Executive

CH
IEF EXECU

TIVE’S R
EVIEW

Most of the operational restructuring associated with the

repositioning we embarked on three years ago has now been

concluded. Rationalisation costs this year of less than £6m compare

to £32m last year and have now returned to the levels I would

normally associate with ongoing cost reduction activity.

Our five platform businesses, within the two fields of Fluid Controls

and Retail Dispense, are now firmly established with leading

positions in clearly defined global niche markets. Their focus is on

providing innovative technical solutions for a highly targeted

number of large, global customers, wherever possible distancing

themselves from commodity offerings for which price is the only

basis of competition.

Delivering the right degree of focus on innovative technical

solutions has required a fairly substantial upgrade in both the

quality and number of people in our customer facing and

engineering functions. Investment in these areas has been

accelerating for each of the last three years. Our IMI Academy, for

the training and development of top quality key account managers,

now has well over 150 fully qualified members, and our investment

in product development has increased 50% over the last three

years. Encouragingly, the number of new products in the pipeline

and the quality and depth of key customer relationships is

beginning to build momentum.

These additional investments have been financed through a

significant restructuring of our cost base. During the year we

developed further our six low cost operations in Mexico, The Czech

Republic and China, which now employ over 1400 people and

generate nearly 25% of our Group manufacturing requirements.

The recent establishment of a global procurement resource in

Shanghai is already delivering savings and we plan to build on this

significantly in 2004. The ongoing process of business simplification

has released another 300 overhead positions from the Group during

the year. Collectively these initiatives have reduced our operating

cost base by around £18m per annum compared to the position

three years ago.

Our continued focus on working capital has delivered another

strong cashflow performance, with gearing now reduced to 25%.

We are pleased with the businesses acquired during the year,

Artform, Commtech and Fluid Kinetics for a combined sum of £62m

and continue our active pursuit of suitable acquisitions.

Looking ahead, our focus has moved away from operational

restructuring to delivering growth. Central to that delivery is an

acceleration of our key account activity, expansion of our new

product programme, and a greater commitment to the fast-

growing economies of China and Eastern Europe.

The changes to the Board referred to by the Chairman will assist this

process, allowing me more time to focus on organic growth

initiatives as well as the strategic development of the Group.

As we enter 2004, prospects for global economies seem brighter

than they were twelve months ago. Whilst this is certainly

encouraging, it is too early to say whether this optimism will flow

through into a sustainable increase in activity. Competitive

pressures remain intense, particularly in respect of some of our 

older product lines, with price competition and rising raw materials

costs continuing to squeeze margins. The sharp weakening of the 

US dollar, if maintained, will inevitably impact 2004 reported sterling

profits. Notwithstanding these pressures, I believe IMI is well placed

to make further progress in the year ahead, building on the very

solid improvement generated in each of the last two years.

Martin Lamb

Chief Executive

8 March 2004

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘LOOKING AHEAD, OUR
FOCUS HAS MOVED AWAY FROM OPERATIONAL
RESTRUCTURING TO DELIVERING GROWTH.’
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IMI Business Presidents (left to right below)ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘WE ARE FOCUSED ON
HELPING OUR CUSTOMERS TO INCREASE THEIR
EFFICIENCY AND DRIVE THEIR INCREMENTAL SALES.’
IMI Business Presidents

IMI plc is the ultimate holding company of the Group and has been

listed on the London Stock Exchange since 1966. At 31 December

2003 it had a market value of £1.2bn and shareholders funds of

£539m. During the year the headquarters relocated to Lakeside,

Birmingham Business Park, England. IMI Group trading activities are

carried on through subsidiary companies.

Group activities

The Group activities are organised around three main business areas.

Fluid Controls and Retail Dispense together comprise our five platform

businesses providing knowledge-based engineering solutions in

clearly defined niche markets of around £1-3bn. The common goal of

all five is to deliver innovative and complete solutions for a highly

targeted group of leading global customers. In Fluid Controls our

businesses share similar technologies to drive efficiency. Severe

Service principally operates in the power generation and oil and gas

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘WE ARE FOCUSED ON
HELPING OUR CUSTOMERS TO INCREASE THEIR
EFFICIENCY AND DRIVE THEIR INCREMENTAL SALES.’
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Peter Wallace
Fluid Power

markets; Fluid Power provides essential pneumatic systems for original

equipment manufacturers in markets such as automotive, medical,

printing and packaging and commercial vehicles; Indoor Climate

services building and facility operators aiding energy conservation and

cost control. Our Retail Dispense businesses share merchandising

know-how to drive incremental volume for our customers. Beverage

Dispense designs and manufactures still and carbonated beverage

dispense systems to help multinational businesses sell in draught form

their highly branded alcoholic and soft drinks; Merchandising Systems

designs and supplies point of purchase (PoP) displays to enable brand

owners and retailers to increase sales in retail outlets. Our third

business area, Building Products, predominantly comprises the

Polypipe operations which provide plastic pipes and building service

products for the construction and building industry.

The Group serves all the major geographical markets where our

customers are present and in 2003 these can be summarised as follows:

The activities are managed on a decentralised basis with each business

unit operating through a local board of directors headed by a business

president. During 2003 the operational presidents reported directly to

the Chief Executive, Martin Lamb. With effect from 1 March 2004 an

executive director will be responsible for each of the Fluid Controls 

and Retail Dispense activities. Building Products will continue to report 

direct to the Chief Executive.

The sales and operating profit by business area in 2003 was:

Rest of 
% sales UK Europe US Other

Fluid Controls 11 54 19 16
Retail Dispense 15 10 67 8
Building Products 76 21 - 3
Group 27 34 29 10

Fluid 
Controls
52%
£80.1m

% of Group profit*

* before tax, exceptional items, goodwill amortisation and rationalisation costs 

Fluid 
Controls
48%
£747m

Building
Products
23%
£370m

% of Group sales

Retail
Dispense
29%
£448m

Retail
Dispense
26%
£40.4m

Building
Products
22%
£33.0m
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Dispense designs and manufactures still and carbonated beverage

dispense systems to help multinational businesses sell in draught form

their highly branded alcoholic and soft drinks; Merchandising Systems

designs and supplies point of purchase (PoP) displays to enable brand

owners and retailers to increase sales in retail outlets. Our third

business area, Building Products, predominantly comprises the

Polypipe operations which provide plastic pipes and building service

products for the construction and building industry.

The Group serves all the major geographical markets where our

customers are present and in 2003 these can be summarised as follows:

The activities are managed on a decentralised basis with each business

unit operating through a local board of directors headed by a business

president. During 2003 the operational presidents reported directly to

the Chief Executive, Martin Lamb. With effect from 1 March 2004 an

executive director will be responsible for each of the Fluid Controls 

and Retail Dispense activities. Building Products will continue to report 

direct to the Chief Executive.

The sales and operating profit by business area in 2003 was:

Rest of 
% sales UK Europe US Other

Fluid Controls 11 54 19 16
Retail Dispense 15 10 67 8
Building Products 76 21 - 3
Group 27 34 29 10

Fluid 
Controls
52%
£80.1m

% of Group profit*

* before tax, exceptional items, goodwill amortisation and rationalisation costs 

Fluid 
Controls
48%
£747m

Building
Products
23%
£370m

% of Group sales

Retail
Dispense
29%
£448m

Retail
Dispense
26%
£40.4m

Building
Products
22%
£33.0m
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Individual business area performance

In this review of our businesses, operating profit is stated before

goodwill amortisation and rationalisation costs.

Severe Service

Our Severe Service valves business achieved another year of strong

organic growth with sales and order intake around 13% higher than

2002. Much of the growth is from the oil and gas market where CCI

continues to be the leader in valve applications for LNG (Liquified

Natural Gas) receiving and storage terminals. Strong growth is also

coming from Asia, in particular the Chinese power market. Although

new construction power in the US declined, this was offset by gains in

customer service orders. We continue to benefit generally from plant

level upgrades and replacing competitor valves.

Investment in specialist sales engineers over the last three years has

fuelled much of the growth in sales. We intend to reduce the rate of

investment in the short term to enable margin enhancement to come

through. In addition it is necessary to ensure that operational

efficiencies keep pace with the growth. As a result, we expect the rate

of top-line growth will be slower over the next couple of years.

Our recent investment to increase production has resulted in around

10% of our manufacturing capacity being located in Mexico and The

Czech Republic.

Fluid Kinetics, purchased in 2003, although impacted by the weaker 

US power market, brings added technology in noise reduction. The

synergy benefits from the acquisition of STI in 2002 are showing

through with STI actuation technology now used on 80% of all new

Drag valve shipments.

Sales and operating profit for the year were, respectively, £20m and

£3.0m higher than last year.

Fluid Power

Following a first half increase of 12%, sales in our key target sectors

continued to grow and ended the year 13% ahead of 2002. Sales to

the commercial vehicles and medical sectors were particularly

encouraging. Overall volumes elsewhere were up 3% with Asia Pacific

significantly ahead. Order books at the end of the year were around

5% higher than December 2002.

New product development is gaining momentum and the change-

out from general sales to more market focused key account managers

is continuing. Operational efficiencies at the Mexican and Czech

FLUID CONTROLSFLUID CONTROLS

facilities are improving and more capacity will be transferred during

2004. The heavy expenditure associated with the restructuring is now

behind us but future rationalisation will arise from ongoing cost

reduction and efficiency measures.

Margins have improved each half year for the last two years and as

business across our major trading regions improves, the reduced cost

base should enable us to further enhance profitability.

Sales and operating profit for the year were, respectively, £31m and

£10.7m higher than last year.

Indoor Climate

After a subdued first half, activity in our Indoor Climate business

recovered a little, leaving volumes overall for the year marginally ahead

of last year. Balancing valve sales were around 3% higher despite a

reduction in the US, which was affected by a combination of the

impact of a reorganisation of the sales channel and the strengthening

of the euro against the US dollar. Thermostatic radiator valve volumes

into the German market  strengthened in the second half, offering

some encouragement that the long-term decline is coming to an end.

Sales of Indoor Climate products in Eastern Europe remain strong and,

although still small, we have increased our presence in the growing

Chinese market and have already succeeded in winning a number 

of projects.

The acquisition of Commtech in February 2003 has provided impetus

to our drive into the service and commissioning business which in

turn will pull through sales of Indoor Climate products. Commtech

contributed sales of £22m and profit of £1.2m. Excluding Commtech,

sales were £147m,operating profit £22.6m and operating margins 15.4%.

Beverage Dispense

Beverage Dispense had a challenging year. Underlying end markets

were difficult and operationally the need was to consolidate after the

heavy programme of product and process transfers effected in the last

two years. In the US, the food service sector weakened further as a

result of declining consumer traffic but our soft drinks brand owner

business strengthened. This was largely as a result of recent new

product introductions and we enjoyed particular success this year

with our Lipton Tea product. Our US on-line parts distribution

business, Bevcore, continued its progress and we are confident that

this business model has considerable potential. In Europe the first half

was generally soft across all regions although demand  picked up in
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the second half. Again, new products helped with a successful launch

into the cooled water business in Germany. In the UK, beer dispenser

sales were steady although there are some signs of a slowdown

following two good years of growth. After eliminating the impact of

the one-off contract in 2002 for frozen carbonated equipment, overall

volumes for the year were similar to last year although second half

volumes were around 3% lower.

Further cost reduction measures are in process and we have closed

our facility in Corby in the UK and recently announced the closure of

another of our US manufacturing facilities. The benefits of the very

significant changes we have made, particularly within the US and the

move to Mexico, are beginning to materialise. We expect that the

initial operational issues  at our Reynosa facility will have been resolved

by mid 2004. We are already seeing the benefits of consolidation in

our working capital with significant inventory reductions now

showing through.

Sales and operating profit for the year were, respectively, £34m and

£6.4m lower than last year.

Merchandising Systems

A good performance in Merchandising Systems was helped by a full

year’s contribution from DCI and by the acquisition of Artform in

October.

The increased level of enquiry activity seen in the first half of the year

continued and is now being reflected in sales. Our traditional Cannon

business is showing increasing momentum and improvements in key

account relationships have played a significant part in producing a

very good order book going into 2004. Display Technologies has

enjoyed particular success with its bulk bin food systems.

DCI had an outstanding first full year with volumes significantly ahead

of the previous calendar year. General custom PoP sales were strong

and an excellent automotive sector performance was boosted by the

Scion (Toyota) programme. Artform’s results since acquisition were in

line with our expectations.

Cost reductions continue to be achieved with the emphasis on

investment being placed on customer facing activities. Some

outsourcing of components to China has already been implemented

and there is scope for further margin enhancement over time.

Sales of £170m and operating profit of £18.2m for the year included

£44m and £3.9m for the additional months of DCI and Artform.

In the core Building Products business of Polypipe, volumes

were ahead of last year largely as a result of a strong UK

housing market and good growth in underfloor heating

systems. Raw material prices have increased regularly during

the year creating  pressure on margins.

Elsewhere in Polypipe the picture is mixed. The small European

businesses are now stable following organisation changes but

further rationalisation measures may have to be taken in some

of the UK businesses.

Despite margin pressures, Polypipe as a whole produced a very

creditable performance and cash generation was again

excellent, with further working capital reductions producing

operating cash in excess of operating profit.

Sales and operating profit for the year were, respectively,

£370m (2002: £355m) and £33.0m (2002: £33.1m).

RETAIL DISPENSE

BUILDING PRODUCTS

Operations review continued
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Highly efficient valve applications save Calpine an

estimated average of $1m per plant per year.

These severe service valves, along with CCI’s 

in-depth global support to Calpine’s advanced

energy production facilities, help to ensure that

clean power supplies are maintained to customers

in major cities such as Denver, Colorado.

William E Stecker, Technical Advisor,
Power Plant Technology, Calpine Corporation

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘TO HELP MEET THE ENERGY
DEMANDS OF OUR CUSTOMERS WE DEPEND ON THE
SEVERE SERVICE VALVE PERFORMANCE AND THE UNIQUE
UNDERSTANDING OF OUR OPERATIONS THAT OUR
STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP WITH CCI PROVIDES.’

10 Fluid Controls

Highly efficient valve applications save Calpine an

estimated average of $1m per plant per year.

These severe service valves, along with CCI’s 

in-depth global support to Calpine’s advanced

energy production facilities, help to ensure that

clean power supplies are maintained to customers

in major cities such as Denver, Colorado.

Controlling critical processes. Faced with the need to minimise

the risk of handling liquids and gases in erosive service and extreme

conditions, power, petroleum, chemical, and pulp and paper facilities

depend on high integrity control systems for the safety and

efficiency of their operations. CCI’s worldwide resources and

expertise in severe service valves are integral to the reliability and

effectiveness of these systems.

As a leader in the severe service field, CCI continues to invest in the

development of innovative technologies and solutions that help its

customers achieve peak performance. Early in 2003 we introduced

QuickTrakTM, a technologically unique and revolutionary valve

actuation system that materially enhances our customers’

operational effectiveness and reduces their maintenance costs.

CCI supports customers in an increasing range of geographies and

industry sectors. We installed velocity control technology at

offshore oil and gas production platforms in Angola and Equatorial

Guinea. We improved our presence and gained market share in

critical service applications for fertiliser production plants,

developing our typically close and collaborative relationships with

new customers in this area. New products and solutions, developed

together by CCI and IMI Vision, have proved successful in combined

cycle plants for non-turbine bypass desuperheating applications.

As CCI’s customers increase their focus on plant efficiency our

advanced and proven technologies, deep industry knowledge and

ability to offer reliable and cost effective solutions promise many

more growth opportunities.

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘TO HELP MEET THE ENERGY
DEMANDS OF OUR CUSTOMERS WE DEPEND ON THE
SEVERE SERVICE VALVE PERFORMANCE AND THE UNIQUE
UNDERSTANDING OF OUR OPERATIONS THAT OUR
STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP WITH CCI PROVIDES.’
William E Stecker, Technical Advisor,
Power Plant Technology, Calpine Corporation
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Customised to meet application-specific needs,

Norgren’s system valves play a critical role in 

BOC Edwards’ exhaust management systems 

for demanding, cutting-edge semi-conductor

manufacture - where safety, uptime and space

optimisation are critical.

Malcolm Rock, Operations and Manufacturing Engineering Manager, 
BOC Edwards - Exhaust Management Systems 

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘AS A WORLD LEADER IN
EXHAUST MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS, WE SET DEMANDING
PERFORMANCE CRITERIA FOR QUALITY, DESIGN
INNOVATION, DELIVERY AND PRICE. NORGREN HAS
EXCEEDED OUR EXPECTATIONS, AND NOW ACTS AS A
PRIMARY SUPPLY PARTNER.’ 

Customised to meet application-specific needs,

Norgren’s system valves play a critical role in 

BOC Edwards’ exhaust management systems 

for demanding, cutting-edge semi-conductor

manufacture - where safety, uptime and space

optimisation are critical.

Delivering machine power. Our Fluid Power business, Norgren,

provides a complete range of sophisticated motion and fluid

control systems. Increasingly focussed on high growth Original

Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs), Norgren offers leading global

businesses reliable and proven products, and customised solutions,

which match individual clients' needs. Our promise is to help them

gain competitive advantage through improved efficiencies,

increased revenue and reduced costs.

During 2003 Norgren once again set new industry standards in

expertise and innovation. Our new flagship valve range, VM10, a

small and versatile system valve solution that can be configured

online from seven million different options, was successfully

launched to customers worldwide. Providing an outstanding

performance for size ratio, and designed around the specific needs

of major customers, this unique valve solution significantly improves

the speed at which we are able to satisfy the requirements of

customers in the packaging, printing and electronics sectors. New

on-board technology solutions from Norgren now enable truck

manufacturers to meet recently introduced and demanding US

and European emission regulations while improving engine and

transmission performance.

We continued to focus on the medical sector, introducing new or

improved solutions for respiration, clinical chemistry and laboratory

automation. We developed, for example, a new integrated 

solution for anaesthetic delivery which significantly reduces the

cost and enhances regulation efficiency according to patient

requirements.

Improved supply chain management and low cost manufacturing

and purchasing initiatives undertaken during the year, coupled

with our intimate understanding of the needs and operating

environments of our clients, will allow Norgren to increase yet

further the added value we deliver to customers and their end users.

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘AS A WORLD LEADER IN
EXHAUST MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS, WE SET DEMANDING
PERFORMANCE CRITERIA FOR QUALITY, DESIGN
INNOVATION, DELIVERY AND PRICE. NORGREN HAS
EXCEEDED OUR EXPECTATIONS, AND NOW ACTS AS A
PRIMARY SUPPLY PARTNER.’ 
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Malcolm Rock, Operations and Manufacturing Engineering Manager, 
BOC Edwards - Exhaust Management Systems 
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Indoor Climate requirements are discussed in

detail at the planning stage. After installation,

balancing valves are checked in the completed

airport terminal building at Chongqing Jiangbei

International Airport.

Liao Hao-Bo, Vice-President Engineering, 
Chongqing Jiangbei International Airport

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘THE TEAM FROM IMI WORKED
WITH US TO UNDERSTAND THE COMPLEX INDOOR
CLIMATE MANAGEMENT FOR OUR PRESTIGIOUS NEW
AIRPORT PROJECT AND DESIGNED A SYSTEM TO
BALANCE TEMPERATURE AND HUMIDITY BOTH
EFFECTIVELY AND  EFFICIENTLY.’

Indoor Climate requirements are discussed in

detail at the planning stage. After installation,

balancing valves are checked in the completed

airport terminal building at Chongqing Jiangbei

International Airport.
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Perfecting indoor climate. Our indoor climate business is a

market leader in the development and delivery of indoor

environments that satisfy the parallel and increasing demands for

personal comfort, cost reduction and worldwide energy

conservation.

Our products and services are developed through the application of

our extensive experience, system design knowledge and project

management skills. They ensure that retailers, hotel chains and

other facility managers provide an environment which satisfies the

needs of their customers and encourages them to return.

During the year we enjoyed great success in expanding current

relationships and developing new relationships with customers

throughout the world. Our new office in Shanghai will act as a

springboard for our penetration of the growing Asia Pacific market

and a successful project for Shenzhen University City has led to a

number of major new opportunities in China. An extended

partnership in North America is also improving our reach and brand

promotion, particularly in wet systems, in that important market.

The acquisition of Commtech in February strengthened our service

and commissioning capability, further enhancing our full package

offer for large commercial customers. We supported ING Bank from

development to final installation balancing at its new glass

constructed head office building in Amsterdam and undertook

several major airport construction projects, including Madrid and

Gatwick. All our indoor climate commissioning and service activities

now operate under the Commtech banner.

Indoor Climate has a unique product, service and commissioning

capability, delivering added value solutions which contribute to the

success of our customers’ businesses.

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘THE TEAM FROM IMI WORKED
WITH US TO UNDERSTAND THE COMPLEX INDOOR
CLIMATE MANAGEMENT FOR OUR PRESTIGIOUS NEW
AIRPORT PROJECT AND DESIGNED A SYSTEM TO
BALANCE TEMPERATURE AND HUMIDITY BOTH
EFFECTIVELY AND  EFFICIENTLY.’
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Liao Hao-Bo, Vice-President Engineering, 
Chongqing Jiangbei International Airport
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Perfecting indoor climate. Our indoor climate business is a

market leader in the development and delivery of indoor

environments that satisfy the parallel and increasing demands for

personal comfort, cost reduction and worldwide energy

conservation.

Our products and services are developed through the application of

our extensive experience, system design knowledge and project

management skills. They ensure that retailers, hotel chains and

other facility managers provide an environment which satisfies the

needs of their customers and encourages them to return.

During the year we enjoyed great success in expanding current

relationships and developing new relationships with customers

throughout the world. Our new office in Shanghai will act as a

springboard for our penetration of the growing Asia Pacific market

and a successful project for Shenzhen University City has led to a
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partnership in North America is also improving our reach and brand

promotion, particularly in wet systems, in that important market.
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and commissioning capability, further enhancing our full package

offer for large commercial customers. We supported ING Bank from

development to final installation balancing at its new glass

constructed head office building in Amsterdam and undertook

several major airport construction projects, including Madrid and

Gatwick. All our indoor climate commissioning and service activities

now operate under the Commtech banner.

Indoor Climate has a unique product, service and commissioning

capability, delivering added value solutions which contribute to the

success of our customers’ businesses.
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Douwe Egberts selected Cornelius for its design,

manufacturing and quality assurance. Value-

added supply chain services also help Douwe

Egberts’ rapidly expanding foodservice business

penetrate a broad spectrum of applications

including major hotel chains.

Dennis Riley, President of Douwe Egberts,
North America

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘THE DOUWE EGBERTS COFFEE
SYSTEM RELIES ON INNOVATIVE SYSTEM SOLUTIONS TO
PROVIDE CONSISTENTLY HIGH QUALITY COFFEE BEVERAGES.
THE RELATIONSHIP WITH CORNELIUS HAS ENHANCED OUR
ABILITY TO MEET OUR VALUED CUSTOMERS' EXPECTATIONS.’
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Pioneering beverage dispense. Our beverage dispense business,

Cornelius, is the world’s leading supplier of still and carbonated

beverage dispensing and cooling equipment. Its high value, brand

driven and knowledge based solutions help the world’s leading

beverage brand owners, restaurants and convenience stores to

grow their businesses and improve their profitability.

Deep rooted, long term partnership relationships with our

customers add value to both parties. Key account management

initiatives, including collaborative workshops where Cornelius works

with customers to further improve the efficiency of their operations,

have contributed significantly to these relationships.

Our strengths in technical innovation continued to generate new

opportunities for our clients, with exciting new products gaining

approval and recognition from major global customers. A number

of these products, including Draughtguard, a unique device for

maintaining draught beer quality in locations without access to

controlled cellars, were developed with the benefit of technologies

from other IMI operations.

Managing parts distribution to best benefit our customers remains

a high priority. During the year supply chain initiatives by our on-

line Bevcore business helped to improve shipping processes and 

lead-times and reduce inventories for clients across the food service

market.

As our customers continue to expand into new territories,

particularly Russia and China, or sectors, such as coffee, tea, frozen or

extra cold beverages, our expertise, technology and know-how

enable us to provide the innovative and reliable solutions that help

them take full advantage of all opportunities.
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DCI Marketing plans the in-store merchandising

for the Leapster multimedia learning system.

The in-store application allows children to test

the product but also explains its benefits to

parents...leading to the purchase of a highly

educational toy.

Jim Garber, Director of Licensing 
LeapFrog Enterprises Inc.

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘LEAPFROG PUTS FUN INTO
LEARNING AND TURNS LEARNING INTO FUN. DCI'S
MERCHANDISING EXPERTISE HAS HELPED US TO BECOME
THE THIRD LARGEST TOY MANUFACTURER IN THE USA,
JUST EIGHT YEARS AFTER WE BEGAN.’ 

DCI Marketing plans the in-store merchandising

for the Leapster multimedia learning system.

The in-store application allows children to test

the product but also explains its benefits to

parents...leading to the purchase of a highly

educational toy.

Driving impulse purchase. Our understanding of consumers’

impulse behaviour and our in-depth knowledge of all areas of the

supply chain enable us to create solutions that successfully drive

our customers’ sales and reduce their costs. For many of the world’s

leading retailers and global brand owners, we plan logistics, help

design store lay-out and design effective merchandising display

systems that both inspire consumers to buy at the point of

purchase (PoP) and reduce the cost of stock rotation.

Impulse decision making by consumers is growing. It is an

increasingly significant element in the purchase of expensive items

such as games consoles and car accessories as well as lower value

goods such as confectionery and magazines.

The Cannon Solutions initiative brings a new level of research and

knowledge-led PoP merchandising expertise and vision to the retail

community. This solution analyses customers’ space, brand and

finance data, and then designs, manufactures and installs new

merchandising equipment and signage before tracking their effect.

We are developing a unique ‘bintronics’ technology which takes

bulk bin PoP to a new level, measuring bin content and 

transmitting this information off-site to give our customers

improved inventory control and product freshness and the ability to

optimise product mix.

During 2003 we continued to improve the sophistication and range

of our offering to our customers, working internally to add to our

knowledge base and acquiring complementary expertise from

outside. The acquisition of Artform in October extended our PoP

capabilities in the tobacco and cosmetics sectors, at the same time

bringing us greater opportunity to introduce our full solutions

range to new customers in the UK, where Artform is based.

Our outstanding retail dispense expertise is increasingly relevant to

an expanding list of current and potential customers, who we are

well placed to help.

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘LEAPFROG PUTS FUN INTO
LEARNING AND TURNS LEARNING INTO FUN. DCI'S
MERCHANDISING EXPERTISE HAS HELPED US TO BECOME
THE THIRD LARGEST TOY MANUFACTURER IN THE USA,
JUST EIGHT YEARS AFTER WE BEGAN.’ 
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Jim Garber, Director of Licensing 
LeapFrog Enterprises Inc.
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Trevor Slack
Financial Director

Financial performance 

2003 was a year of solid progress. Much of the rationalisation

programme initiated two years ago was completed and in the second

half of the year we saw more confident signs that end markets were

improving. Operating margins have increased each half year for the

last two years as a further demonstration of our progress. Operating

cash was again in excess of operating profit. Interest cover improved 

to 14 times and gearing reduced to 25%.

Group sales on a constant currency basis, and after adjusting for

acquisitions and disposals, were similar to last year in the first half of

2003 but increased in the second half of the year resulting in a volume

increase of 3% for the year. Before exceptional items, goodwill

amortisation and rationalisation costs, operating profit increased by 

4% and profit before tax (PBTEGAR) increased by 8% to £142.6m 

(2002: £131.5m).

The comparison for the first half and second half of the year is:

2003 2002
% Change £m £m

Sales:
First half - 6 780 826
Second half + 1 793 786

- 2 1573 1612

Operating profit before 
goodwill amortisation 
and rationalisation costs:
First half - 2 74.0 75.5
Second half + 9 79.5 72.7

+ 4 153.5 148.2

PBTEGAR*:
First half + 3 68.3 66.0
Second half + 13 74.3 65.5

+ 8 142.6 131.5

Profit before tax:
First half + 20 56.4 47.0
Second half + 123 60.8 27.3

+ 58 117.2 74.3

The profit and loss account is translated into sterling using the average
exchange rate for the year. The most important foreign currencies for
the Group are the euro and the US dollar; against sterling the average
rate of the euro strengthened 10% and the US dollar weakened 8%.
The impact on sales, profit and cash in 2003 was not significant, as 
can be seen in the tables that follow. However, the US dollar had
weakened further by the year end. The relevant rates of exchange
were:
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Since the year end, against sterling, the US dollar has deteriorated to
1.84 and the euro weakened to 1.49. If these rates of exchange had
applied throughout 2003, the reported sales and profit before tax
would have been lower by £80m and £8m respectively.
Acquisitions made during the year were Commtech (Indoor Climate),
Fluid Kinetics (Severe Service) and Artform (Merchandising Systems) at
a combined cost of £66m. Pro forma annual sales of these businesses
were £56m. These acquisitions, together with the additional months of
STI (acquired March 2002) and DCI Merchandising (acquired August
2002) contributed £68m sales and £5.4m operating profit. It is
estimated that the contribution after interest was £3.7m and after
goodwill amortisation £1.9m.
In October 2003 we sold our small air-conditioning business which 
had annual sales of around £10m. In 2002 we sold the copper tube
and copper fittings businesses but still retain the liability for any 
fines imposed by the European Commission enquiry (see note 27 on
page 73).
After the major rationalisation expenditure of the previous two years,
costs in 2003 returned to a more normal level at £5.7m. The major
costs were in Fluid Power where further infrastructure changes have
been made to the European operations and in Beverage Dispense in
the UK.
The benefits from rationalisation and cost reduction measures continue
to mature and it is estimated that savings of around £18m (compared
to the base year 2000) came through in 2003 (2002: £13m). We
continue to invest in sales and engineering resource and innovation
and during the year spent around £22m (2002: £19m).
As expected, following a review of the UK Pension Fund at 31 March
2003, it was decided to resume full employer contributions as from 
1 April 2003 and not recognise any surplus arising under SSAP24. As a
result, the benefit to the profit and loss account in 2002 of £5m was not
applicable this year. The cash contribution in 2003 increased by £4m.

Sales  PBTEGAR* PBT  
£m £m £m

First half:
As reported in 2002 826 66.0 47.0
Effects of currency translation (2) (0.2) (0.2)
Acquisitions 39 2.6 2.6
Other continuing operations 5 3.1 3.1
SSAP24 pensions credit (2.5) (2.5)
Investment for growth (2.0) (2.0)
Discontinued operations (88) (2.5) (1.8)
Rationalisation costs 11.0
Goodwill amortisation (1.1)
Net interest cost 3.8 3.8
Exceptional items (3.5)

780 68.3 56.4

Second half:
As reported in 2002 786 65.5 27.3
Effects of currency translation 6 1.3 1.3
Acquisitions 29 2.8 2.8
Other continuing operations 35 6.3 6.3
SSAP24 pensions credit (2.5) (2.5)
Investment for growth (1.0) (1.0)
Discontinued operations (63) (0.1) 0.4
Rationalisation costs 14.3
Goodwill amortisation (0.6)
Net interest cost 2.0 2.0
Exceptional items 10.5

793 74.3 60.8

Year 1573 142.6 117.2

Trevor Slack
Financial Director FIN
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Average At 31 December
2003 2002 2003  2002

Euro 1.44 1.59 1.42 1.53
US dollar 1.64 1.51 1.79 1.61

Interest costs reduced by £5.8m, around £4m of which came from
lower underlying debt, £0.3m from currency and interest rate
reductions and £1.5m from the net impact of acquisitions and
disposals.
A summary of the major changes in sales and profit compared to 
2002 is as follows:

Cash flow
Operating cash flow before rationalisation and capital sales was
130% of operating profit before goodwill amortisation and
rationalisation costs. Over the past three years on the same basis,
operating cash has exceeded operating profit by £139m (31%).

During this period working capital reductions have produced
cash of £103m. Gross capital expenditure was again low at 
0.8 times depreciation (2002: 0.7 times) and is a reflection of the
priorities given by management to the rationalisation. We would
expect this to rise to around 1.0 to 1.1 times in future years.

Tax payments were low in 2002 due to a combination of
repayments and tax relief on rationalisation costs and returned 
to a more normal level in 2003.

Cash flow before dividends was £142m (2002: £189m) covering
the dividend payment 2.6 times (2002: 3.5 times). Free cash 
flow before acquisitions and disposals was £87m (2002: £134m).

The conversion of our foreign currency borrowings at the year
end resulted in a net reduction of £4m in reported debt.
Net borrowings of £136m at the year end comprised gross
borrowings of £217m and cash of £81m. Gearing at 25% has
fallen from 33% at the end of 2002.

The Group cash flow statement is shown on page 48.
The change in net debt is summarised below.

2003  2002
£m £m

EBITDA** before rationalisation costs 220 219
Working capital requirements 31 47
Capital expenditure (51) (51)
Capital sales 15 40

Operating cash flow before
rationalisation 215 255

Rationalisation (19) (35)

Operating cash flow 196 220
Tax paid (42) (14)
Dividends paid (55) (55)
Interest paid (net) (12) (17)

Free cash flow 87 134
Acquisitions and disposals

including acquired debt (56) 26
Issue of shares 2 2
Currency translation 4 10

Change in net debt 37 172

* profit before tax, exceptional items, goodwill amortisation and rationalisation costs 

* profit before tax, exceptional items, goodwill amortisation and rationalisation costs 

** Earnings before interest, tax, deprecation and amortisation
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No major refinancing was required during the year apart from the
extension of some shorter term banking facilities. There are no material
funds outside the UK where repatriation is restricted.
There are over £230m of undrawn committed funding lines available to
help meet the growth strategy of the Group. Good relationships are
maintained with the Group’s core bankers consolidated by regular
meetings and trading updates. The year end debt: EBITDA of 0.6:1 
is a reflection of the strength of the balance sheet supported by 
EBITDA: net interest cover of 20:1. The Group anticipates little difficulty
in renewing existing facilities or increasing borrowing capacity should
the need arise. The core of the Group’s debt is funded through US
Loan Notes (2007–2022) totalling $245m (£137m) with an average
maturity of over 7 years.

Taxation
The effective tax rate for the year is 33%, an increase from 32% last year
as a result of a change in the geographical distribution of profit. It is
expected that the rate will increase in 2004 to around 34% reflecting
the current mix of businesses and assuming no significant changes to
tax legislation.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share have, since 2001, been adjusted to exclude the
significant rationalisation costs, reflecting the nature and unusual size of
the expenditure. Goodwill amortisation has also been excluded.
Adjusted earnings per share increased by 7% to 26.8p. Basic (FRS14)
earnings per share increased by 28% to 20.1p.

Dividend
The Board is recommending an unchanged final dividend giving a
total dividend of 15.5p. The dividend is covered 1.7 times before
goodwill amortisation (2002: 1.3 times).

Pensions
For the year ended 31 December 2003, the Group has continued to
account for pension costs under SSAP24:‘Pension Costs’. Adoption of
FRS17:‘Retirement Benefits’ would have required the inclusion of an
additional net pension liability of £108m (2002: £121m) which after tax
of £32m (2002: £37m) would result in a decrease in net assets of £76m
(2002: £84m). The pension cost disclosures under FRS17 show that the
deficit in the Group’s pension arrangements has reduced over the year
by £10m. Although the strong performance of stock markets increased
the market values of the funds’ assets over the year, the impact of this
on the financial position of the funds for FRS17 purposes was offset to
some extent by the increase in the value placed on the accrued
liabilities. This was due to a combination of a fall in bond yields and
current expectations of future price inflation. Full details are shown in
note 24 to the financial statements.

Treasury management

Policy
The Group’s centralised treasury function works within Board
approved guidelines encompassing funding liquidity, foreign
exchange and interest rate risk. The objective is to minimise
the major financial risks to the Group and provide a stable
financial base. The use of financial instruments including
derivatives is permitted where the effect is to minimise risk to
the Group. Compliance with approved policies is monitored
through a control and reporting system. There have been no
changes during the year or since the year end to the major
financial risks to the Group or to the way in which they are
managed.

Published  FRS17

£m £m

Balance sheet

Net assets 543 467

Shareholder funds 539 463

Gearing 25% 29%

Profit & loss account*

Pension cost (15) (16)

Finance income - 2

Net cost (15) (14)

Profit before interest 153.5 152.5

Finance costs (10.9) (8.9)

Profit before tax 142.6 143.6
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* Before exceptional items, goodwill amortisation and rationalisation costs

The impact on the published results of fully adopting FRS17 in 2003
would be as follows:

Foreign exchange and cash management
It is the Group’s policy to minimise risk to exchange rates by hedging
currency exposures at the time of commitment or when there is a
high probability of future commitment using currency instruments
(primarily forward exchange contracts). The Group’s wide geographic
spread both in terms of cost base and customer locations helps to
reduce the impact on profitability of swings in exchange rates as well
as creating opportunities for central netting of exposures.
Currency loans and foreign exchange contracts are used to reduce the
translation risks associated with holding currency based net assets.
The Group reduces its exposure to short term swings in interest rates
through a combination of fixed rate debt and derivative contracts
where appropriate. The weighted average funding rate in 2003 was
5.0% (2002: 4.9%). Given the debt profile of the Group at the balance
sheet date, the effect of a global rise in short term interest rates would
be minimal. Analysis of this hedging is shown in note 18 to the
financial statements.

Return on invested capital
Return on capital employed of continuing operations, defined as
operating profit before goodwill amortisation and rationalisation as a
percentage of the average operating assets plus all goodwill at cost
including the amount deducted from reserves, was 12.7%. This
equates to a post tax return of 8.5% at the underlying tax rate of 33%.

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and
the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and therefore the financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Share price and shareholder return
The share price at 31 December 2003 was 337.25p (2002: 262.5p) an
increase of 28.5%. Based on the year end share price, the total
dividend of 15.5p gives a yield of 4.6%.
The Company’s share price performance is measured against the FTSE
Engineering and Machinery Sector Index for incentive purposes (see
page 44). Over the past three years the IMI share price has
outperformed this index by 57.4%. Over the same period total
shareholder return has outperformed this index by 62.2% and the
FTSE All Share Index by 108.7%.

International Financial Reporting Standards
European Union listed groups are required to adopt International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for their financial statements from
2005, including comparative information for 2004. The Group is
assessing the impact of IFRS on its published financial statements on
an ongoing basis, as the standards are themselves evolving.
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Amongst many other community
projects in 2003, IMI employees
provided practical assistance to the
Ackers Trust in Birmingham, helping
to transform a neglected urban
landscape into an educational
wildlife area.

Sue Hall, Manager
Global Graduate Development

ENGINEERING ADVANTAGE ‘DEVELOPING THE
UNDERSTANDING THAT BUSINESSES MUST BE
SUSTAINABLE TO BE SUCCESSFUL AND THAT THEY MUST
RELATE TO THE COMMUNITIES IN WHICH THEY OPERATE IS
AN ESSENTIAL PART OF OUR GRADUATE PROGRAMME.’
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Amongst many other community
projects in 2003, IMI employees
provided practical assistance to the
Ackers Trust in Birmingham, helping
to transform a neglected urban
landscape into an educational
wildlife area.

Responsible business is good business  

We believe that working in ways that are sustainable and have

regard for the needs of tomorrow as well as those of today makes

good business sense. Caring for the environment and being a

responsible corporate citizen (often referred to as Corporate and

Social Responsibility or CSR) add value to a business, impacting

positively on profitability, reputation and growth.

In practical terms this translates into programmes and policies that

take care of the  people working inside our organisation, interacting

with and living around it, as well as minimising the impact on the

wider environment. We take our responsibilities seriously and good

health, safety and sustainable environmental practice are

fundamental to the way that we do business. Our website

(www.imiplc.com) carries further information about how we do this,

including our code of business principles, our health, safety and

environmental policy, our environmental report and monitoring

procedures as well as information about and links to some of the

charitable, community and social programmes supported by 

the Group.

Health, Safety and Environment Policy 

Our Health, Safety and Environment (HS&E) Policy influences key

investment decisions relating to new plant and equipment and the

way in which we manage our processes and business practices.

It also supports our Environmental Management System which helps

the business units formulate appropriate strategies for identifying 

and controlling environmental risk, comply with current and future

legislation and provide information and training for employees.

Monitoring and management  

Our performance, progress and planning in HS&E are given very high

priority by managers at all levels and are monitored regularly. In

addition, the Group’s health, safety and environmental performances

are subjected to a detailed annual audit. The results are reviewed in

detail by the Executive Committee and its conclusions form the basis

of any necessary actions by the presidents of the operating units, who

are responsible for implementing policies in the units under their

control. In addition, a Health, Safety and Environment Forum is held

annually in order to establish, share and promote best practice.
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� The efficient use of energy in buildings is a major driver for our 

Indoor Climate business, where our unique service proposition 

delivers substantial energy savings while improving personal 

comfort in hotels, public buildings and offices.

� An important element of Cornelius’ retail drinks-dispense 

equipment is the refrigeration system. All the refrigerants we use 

are CFC free and have minimal environmental impact both in use 

and on disposal. In addition, Cornelius is working closely with 

customers to develop alternative refrigeration techniques.

� CCI’s expert knowledge of valve design technology provides 

reliable and environmentally safe operation in petrochemical,

power generation, oil and gas and other sectors where the 

control of hazardous fluids is vital.

� Norgren supplies clients with pneumatic products 

characterised by the efficient management of leakage,

which simultaneously minimises noise pollution and 

maximises energy efficiency.

� Our development of an innovative scheme for the treatment of 

foundry gases has led to the use of a biological filtration system 

at Heimeier, resulting in odourless and dust free emissions.

Corporate governance 

The Company’s commitment to best practice in all aspects of

corporate governance and details of the standards it adheres to 

can be found on pages 32-44. Information is also available on the

Company’s website (www.imiplc.com).

Community involvement 

Community involvement takes place at many levels across all IMI

businesses, ranging from IMI plc’s role as a founder patron of the

City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra and Symphony Hall to a

large number of local charitable, health, educational and other

initiatives at our facilities around the world.

Examples of IMI community involvement:

� All IMI global graduates are required during the UK placement 

of their training period to undertake a six-month community 

project. In the past year projects have included business 

recycling and biodiversity assignments, work with young 

offenders at a secure unit, and the UK Imagineering initiative 

promoting engineering in schools. Graduates also raised money 

for Birmingham Focus on Blindness.

� For the sixth year in a row Display Technologies contributed 

money and services to Queen’s Child Guidance Centre in New 

York, a non-profit community organisation promoting the well 

being of children, adolescents and their families.

� Our Norgren business partnered with Detroit’s International 

Academy, sponsoring and assisting its winning team at a national 

robotics competition, encouraging the young engineers of the 

future.

� CCI continued its contribution to the education of 

employees’ families, offering scholarships for their university 

education and summer internships to provide insight and 

practical experience of the workplace.

� TA, part of our Indoor Climate business, is participating in a major 

project to improve health, employment, and quality of life in its 

local community in the Herrljunga district of Sweden.

These examples demonstrate how, throughout IMI, our businesses

are working to make a positive contribution to their local

communities and environments. The mutual benefits and rewards

are appreciated wherever IMI has a permanent presence.

Some highlights 

� IMI plc was this year selected for inclusion in both the FTSE4Good

Index and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index.

� During 2003 we expanded the role of the HQ environmental 

advisor to include health and safety - further strengthening the 

resource which supports those working on health, safety and 

environment within IMI Group companies worldwide.

� IMI’s risk control advisors conducted visits to the vast majority of 

significant IMI sites worldwide, where they addressed a variety of  

topics including health, safety and environment.

� The 2003 Index of Corporate Environmental Engagement survey 

conducted by Business in the Environment amongst the FTSE 350

companies, gave us an excellent overall rating with an average 

score of 87% and ranked us as second in the general industrial 

sector.

� We are deploying innovative environmentally-friendly energy 

saving technologies in our facilities and operations. To reduce 

energy consumption our Norgren plant in Connecticut  in the US,

for example, retrofitted lighting fixtures with reflectors and energy

efficient lamps significantly reducing energy consumption. In 

Germany at another Norgren facility old air compressors were 

replaced to save energy and reduce maintenance costs. The 

expected return on investment through reduced energy 

consumption is less than two years.

� New plants in China and Mexico have been built with 

technologically advanced water treatment facilities. Such 

programmes not only reduce the water utilised but also enable 

plants to meet increasingly rigorous international regulations on 

the discharge limits in waste process water.

� Bulk product-dispensing systems from our Cannon business 

help to preserve increasingly scarce resources by encouraging 

consumers to buy in bulk and to avoid wasteful packaging.

Responsible business continued
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Responsible business continued
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T M Gateley  

Age 50; non-executive; joined

the Board in 2003. He was a

senior partner for KPMG until

1999. He is a member of the

Industrial Advisory Board of

Alchemy Partners LLP and his

other current directorships

include Open and Direct

Limited (Chairman) and

Jennings Holdings Limited.

His recent past directorships

include Pressac plc and United

Assurance plc.

B L Staples 

Age 58; non-executive; joined the

Board in 2000. He has broad

experience of industry and service

businesses. Chairman of Pendle

UK Ltd and Effective Solutions

Group Ltd. He is also a 

non-executive director of Mining

Scotland Ltd and Chief Executive

of Scottish BioPower Ltd.

J W Leng

Age 58; non-executive; joined

the IMI Board in December

2002. He has extensive

experience in international

manufacturing industry. He is

currently non-executive

Chairman of Corus plc and non-

executive director of Pilkington

plc, J P Morgan Fleming Mid

Cap Investment Trust plc and

Alstom.

G J Allen CBE DL Chairman

Age 59; joined IMI in 1965;

appointed to the Board in 1978,

as Chief Executive in 1986 and as

Chairman in 2001. Mr Allen has

over 30 years experience in

engineering with IMI. He was

awarded a CBE in 1991.

Non-executive directorships

include The London Stock

Exchange, N V Bekaert (Belgium)

and the National Exhibition

Centre Ltd.

M J Lamb Chief Executive 

Age 44; joined IMI in 1985;

appointed to the Board in 1996

and as Chief Executive in

January 2001. Mr Lamb has

extensive experience of

engineering and managed

several major businesses within

the Group before his present

appointment. Non-executive

director of Spectris plc.

T J Slack Finance Director 

Age 57; joined IMI in 1976;

appointed to the Board in 1997.

Mr Slack has broad experience of

operational and financial

management and accounting

matters. As Finance Director he is

also responsible for the company

secretarial, legal, investor relations,

human resources, risk management

and property functions.

D C Nicholas Executive Director

Age 54; joined the IMI Board in

2004. He is responsible for Fluid

Controls, which comprises Fluid

Power, Indoor Climate and Severe

Service. His recent past

directorships include Tyco Flow

Control Europe. He has extensive

experience in managing

engineering businesses.

W R Whitney Executive Director

Age 54; joined IMI in 1987, and

was appointed to the Board in

2004. He is responsible for Retail

Dispense, which comprises IMI's

Beverage Dispense and

Merchandising Systems

businesses. Appointed President,

Cannon Equipment in September

2001 and President, Retail

Dispense in October 2003.

Executive directors pictured right (left to right) during an executive meeting in Shanghai, China

Non-executive directors (pictured above)
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Cap Investment Trust plc and

Alstom.

G J Allen CBE DL Chairman

Age 59; joined IMI in 1965;

appointed to the Board in 1978,

as Chief Executive in 1986 and as

Chairman in 2001. Mr Allen has

over 30 years experience in

engineering with IMI. He was

awarded a CBE in 1991.

Non-executive directorships

include The London Stock

Exchange, N V Bekaert (Belgium)

and the National Exhibition

Centre Ltd.

M J Lamb Chief Executive 

Age 44; joined IMI in 1985;

appointed to the Board in 1996

and as Chief Executive in

January 2001. Mr Lamb has

extensive experience of

engineering and managed

several major businesses within

the Group before his present

appointment. Non-executive

director of Spectris plc.

T J Slack Finance Director 

Age 57; joined IMI in 1976;

appointed to the Board in 1997.

Mr Slack has broad experience of

operational and financial

management and accounting

matters. As Finance Director he is

also responsible for the company

secretarial, legal, investor relations,

human resources, risk management

and property functions.

D C Nicholas Executive Director

Age 54; joined the IMI Board in

2004. He is responsible for Fluid

Controls, which comprises Fluid

Power, Indoor Climate and Severe

Service. His recent past

directorships include Tyco Flow

Control Europe. He has extensive

experience in managing

engineering businesses.

W R Whitney Executive Director

Age 54; joined IMI in 1987, and

was appointed to the Board in

2004. He is responsible for Retail

Dispense, which comprises IMI's

Beverage Dispense and

Merchandising Systems

businesses. Appointed President,

Cannon Equipment in September

2001 and President, Retail

Dispense in October 2003.

Executive directors pictured right (left to right) during an executive meeting in Shanghai, China

Non-executive directors (pictured above)
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Corporate social responsibility
The Board has adopted a code of business principles and policies
reflecting the high standards of conduct it expects of itself and
employees across the Group. The code is available from the
Company Secretary and on our website (www.imiplc.com).
Further information on corporate social responsibility matters is set
out below and on pages 24 to 27.

Employment policies
The Group continues to support employee involvement at all levels
in the organisation. Formal joint consultative machinery is operated
in all except the smallest units where it is strongly encouraged on an
informal basis. During the year consultative arrangements, including
formal committees and team briefings, were used to consider and
discuss employees’ views, to develop understanding of business
aims, to increase awareness of financial and economic factors
affecting performance, and to improve effectiveness. The Group has
a European Works Council which meets at least once a year to
exchange views on trans-national issues facing the Group in the
European Union.
The Annual Report is available to all employees. The company
operates an All Employee Share Ownership Plan covering all UK
employees of certain operations, under which an annual bonus
worth up to £3,000 can be awarded to employees in shares and
employees can invest their own money to acquire additional shares
in a tax efficient manner. A savings-related share option scheme,
which is available to the majority of UK employees, has operated
since 1984. An executive share option scheme, available to selected
executives, including executive directors, has operated since 1985
and a long term incentive plan for senior executives was introduced
in 2002.
A number of management development initiatives are co-ordinated
across the Group, including the IMI Academy and senior talent
management programme. The Group encourages its operating
units to train and develop employees at all levels and a wide range
of business-related education and training opportunities are made
available.
It is Group policy to promote equal opportunities in employment
consistent with the requirements of the countries in which the
Group operates. The policy extends to employees and applicants for
employment and requires companies in the Group to eliminate
discrimination and communicate and promote the policy to all
employees. Chief executives of operating units have responsibility
for complying with the policy and each employee is required to
participate in the policy. Every effort is made to ensure that
applications for employment from disabled persons are fully and
fairly considered and that disabled employees have equal
opportunity in training and promotion. As a matter of longstanding
policy, where appropriate, employees who become disabled have

been given suitable training for employment within the Group or
elsewhere. The Group also supports charities for assisting disabled
people into work.

Health, safety and the environment
It is Group policy to maintain healthy and safe working conditions
and to operate in a responsible manner with regard to the
environment. A summary of the relevant Group policies and
performance is set out on pages 24 to 27 and further information is
available on our website (www.imiplc.com).

Policy and practice on the payment of trade creditors
Operating units are responsible for making their suppliers aware of
the terms of payment and agreeing such terms with their suppliers
for each business transaction. It is Group policy that payments to
suppliers are made in accordance with these terms. The Company is
not a trading entity.

Donations
£323,000 was given during 2003 for community and similar
purposes including £231,000 for charitable purposes. The Group
supports a range of selected national charities and smaller charitable
organisations operating in communities where the Group has a
presence. A sizeable proportion of total donations went into
education including establishments in engineering and technology.
In the arts, IMI is a founder patron of Symphony Hall, Birmingham,
and sponsors the City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra and the
Birmingham Royal Ballet. IMI also supports numerous community
art and welfare groups. No donations to political parties were made
during the year.

Directors
The persons who were directors throughout the year were 
Mr G J Allen, Mr M J Lamb, Mr J W Leng, Mr R B Pointon, Mr T J Slack
and Mr B L Staples. Mr T M Gateley was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1 November 2003 and Sir Chips Keswick was a
non-executive director until his retirement on 31 October 2003.
Changes in executive directors were announced in December 2003:
Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney joined the Board on 1 March
2004 and Mr R B Pointon will retire on 31 March 2004.
Under the Company’s articles of association, Mr G J Allen and
Mr T J Slack retire by rotation and are recommended for re-election
at the annual general meeting to be held on 14 May 2004. In
addition, Mr T M Gateley, Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney will
be standing for re-election at that meeting, being the first annual
general meeting since they were appointed. Biographical details
appear on page 28. Mr G J Allen and Mr T M Gateley are 
non-executive directors and do not have a service contract.
Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney are executive directors and
have service contracts terminable on one year’s notice.

Directors’ interests
The interests of the persons (including the interests of their
families) who were directors at the end of the year in the
share capital of the Company, and their interests in the
Company’s share option schemes, are shown on pages 
40 and 43.
Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
The directors are required to prepare financial statements for
each financial period which comply with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1985 and give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end
of the accounting period and of the profit or loss for that
period. Suitable accounting policies, consistently applied,
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates, have been used in the preparation of the financial
statements and applicable accounting standards have been
followed.
The directors are responsible for maintaining adequate
accounting records, for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and the Group, and for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting will be held at the Hilton
Birmingham Metropole Hotel, National Exhibition Centre,
Birmingham on Friday 14 May 2004, commencing at noon.
Notice of the meeting will be sent to shareholders as a
separate circular.

Auditor
Resolutions for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as
auditor of the Company and to authorise the directors to
determine the auditor’s remuneration are to be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
John O’Shea Company Secretary
8 March 2004

The year’s results
The Group profit and loss account is shown on page 46.
Group profit before tax, exceptional items and goodwill amortisation
amounted to £136.9 million (2002: £99.3 million) and profit before
taxation amounted to £117.2 million (2002: £74.3 million). Earnings
applicable to shareholders of IMI plc amounted to £71.0 million
(2002: £55.4 million).

Dividends
The directors recommend a final dividend at the rate of 9.5p per
share on the ordinary share capital payable on 25 May 2004 to
shareholders on the register at the close of business on 13 April
2004. Together with the interim dividend of 6.0p per share paid on
20 October 2003, this final dividend brings the total distribution for
the year to 15.5p per share (2002: 15.5p per share).

Shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds increased from £527.9 million to £539.4 million
at 31 December 2003.

Principal activities
During 2003 the Group’s businesses were organised under the
following main classes: Fluid Controls, Retail Dispense and Building
Products. Subsidiary companies operating within these classes of
business are listed on pages 74 and 75. The turnover, profit and
capital employed attributable to each of these classes of business
are shown in note 1 on page 53. Notwithstanding the disposals in
2002 of its Copper Tube and Copper Fittings businesses, the
Company retains responsibility in relation to the European
Commissions’ investigations into the copper tube and fittings
industries (see note 27 on page 73).

Review of activities
The activities of the Group in 2003, together with indications of 
likely future developments, are reviewed on pages 8 to 19. Details 
of acquisitions and disposals are given in notes 1 to 3 on pages 53
and 54.

Research and development
Expenditure on research and development in the year was £28.0
million compared with £28.0 million in 2002.

Share capital
During the year 1,107,667 new ordinary shares were issued under
employee share schemes; 959,767 under the all employee share
ownership and save as you earn plans and 147,900 under executive
share options. The Company has been notified of the following
substantial interests (3% or more) in its issued share capital:

Legal and General Investment Management Ltd 4.12 %
Standard Life Investments 3.99 %
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Company Secretary and on our website (www.imiplc.com).
Further information on corporate social responsibility matters is set
out below and on pages 24 to 27.
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informal basis. During the year consultative arrangements, including
formal committees and team briefings, were used to consider and
discuss employees’ views, to develop understanding of business
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affecting performance, and to improve effectiveness. The Group has
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exchange views on trans-national issues facing the Group in the
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The Annual Report is available to all employees. The company
operates an All Employee Share Ownership Plan covering all UK
employees of certain operations, under which an annual bonus
worth up to £3,000 can be awarded to employees in shares and
employees can invest their own money to acquire additional shares
in a tax efficient manner. A savings-related share option scheme,
which is available to the majority of UK employees, has operated
since 1984. An executive share option scheme, available to selected
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fairly considered and that disabled employees have equal
opportunity in training and promotion. As a matter of longstanding
policy, where appropriate, employees who become disabled have

been given suitable training for employment within the Group or
elsewhere. The Group also supports charities for assisting disabled
people into work.

Health, safety and the environment
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and to operate in a responsible manner with regard to the
environment. A summary of the relevant Group policies and
performance is set out on pages 24 to 27 and further information is
available on our website (www.imiplc.com).
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Operating units are responsible for making their suppliers aware of
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not a trading entity.
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organisations operating in communities where the Group has a
presence. A sizeable proportion of total donations went into
education including establishments in engineering and technology.
In the arts, IMI is a founder patron of Symphony Hall, Birmingham,
and sponsors the City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra and the
Birmingham Royal Ballet. IMI also supports numerous community
art and welfare groups. No donations to political parties were made
during the year.
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The persons who were directors throughout the year were 
Mr G J Allen, Mr M J Lamb, Mr J W Leng, Mr R B Pointon, Mr T J Slack
and Mr B L Staples. Mr T M Gateley was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1 November 2003 and Sir Chips Keswick was a
non-executive director until his retirement on 31 October 2003.
Changes in executive directors were announced in December 2003:
Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney joined the Board on 1 March
2004 and Mr R B Pointon will retire on 31 March 2004.
Under the Company’s articles of association, Mr G J Allen and
Mr T J Slack retire by rotation and are recommended for re-election
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general meeting since they were appointed. Biographical details
appear on page 28. Mr G J Allen and Mr T M Gateley are 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance and confirms that throughout the year ended 31 December 2003 the
Company has applied the principles of good governance contained in the Combined Code and complied with its best practice provisions 
as set out below in the Board’s report on corporate governance and in its remuneration report on pages 36 to 44.

With effect from 1 January 2004 a new Combined Code, issued by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003, became applicable to the
Company. The Board took steps towards compliance with the new Code during 2003 and expects to be able to report substantial
compliance in the 2004 Annual Report. In anticipation of the new Code, a number of additional, voluntary disclosures are made below and in
the Remuneration Report.

The Board

During the year the Board comprised seven directors: the Chairman; Chief Executive; three independent non-executive directors; and two
executive directors. Management changes announced in December 2003 resulted in the number of executive directors increasing from three
to four in March 2004 and the Board intends to balance this in due course through the appointment of an additional non-executive director.
There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and Chief Executive, which is reflected in a written statement approved by
the Board. In summary, the Chairman is responsible for running the Board and plays a key role in the development of strategy but does not
have any executive role or responsibilities. The Chief Executive leads the executive management team in running the businesses and
implementing operating and strategic plans under authority delegated by the Board.

The non-executive directors are all free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement. All of them meet the criteria for independence under the new Combined Code and are regarded by the  Board as
independent of the Group’s executive management. The Chairman, Mr G J Allen, was chief executive before he became non-executive
Chairman on 11 May 2001 and is not regarded as independent. The independent non-executive directors are from varied backgrounds and
bring with them  a wide range of skills and experience of senior management in commerce and industry. Mr B L Staples succeeded Sir Chips
Keswick as the senior non-executive director after Sir Chips’ retirement in October 2003. The Chairman has two other non-executive
directorships at publicly traded companies but does not chair the board of either. Biographical details of the directors are shown on page 28.

Each new appointee to the Board is required to stand for re-election at the next annual general meeting following their appointment. In
addition, one third of the Board retire by rotation at each annual general meeting and each director stands for re-election at least once every
three years.

The Board provides leadership, direction and control for the business and corporate affairs of the Group and oversees business and
management performance. It has retained direct responsibility for matters not specifically delegated to the executive directors including
strategy and key areas of policy, major investment decisions and changes in the composition of the Group. The Board reviews detailed
budgets, forecasts and plans for the businesses of the Group on an annual basis. Quarterly meetings of the Board consider detailed financial
and management reports on the operational and strategic progress of the Group. Where appropriate, senior executives from around the
Group are invited by the Board to attend meetings to make presentations and join in discussion. Non-executive directors are encouraged to
become engaged with management and there is regular communication between management and non-executive directors. The Chairman
is responsible for ensuring that the Board meetings operate to an appropriate agenda, and that adequate information is provided sufficiently
in advance of meetings to allow proper consideration. He is supported by the Company Secretary, who also assists in ensuring that the Board
operates in accordance with good corporate governance under the Combined Code and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Board has a recognised procedure for any director to obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense and all directors
have access to the Company Secretary who is a solicitor. Directors and officers insurance is held by the Company and details have been
circulated to each director.

The Board normally meets formally six times a year and additional meetings were convened during the year for special purposes as the 
need arose.

The non-executive directors met as a group with the Chairman on several occasions during the year. From 2004, as part of his additional
responsibilities under the new Combined Code, the senior independent director will lead at least one such meeting in the absence of the
Chairman and arrange performance evaluation in respect of the Chairman.

Standing committees of the Board

The standing committees of the Board are the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nominations Committee and the
Executive Committee. Each of these committees operate under written terms of reference which clearly set out their respective delegated
responsibilities and authorities. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominations Committee were
revised in the light of the new Combined Code in December 2003. Summaries and full copies of these new terms of reference appear on the
Company website (www.imiplc.com). The Company Secretary acts as secretary to each of these committees.

The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr B L Staples until 1 November 2003 when Mr T M Gateley was appointed as its chairman. The two
other independent non-executive directors are members of the Audit Committee. Mr T M Gateley is qualified as a chartered accountant and
has significant relevant financial experience. The committee met three times during the year and received reports from the external auditor
who attended its meetings when required to do so. The committee’s work included reviewing the financial statements, accounting policies
and significant issues of judgement, internal financial controls, the proposed external audit approach and the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor. In assessing auditor independence the committee had regard to the guidance for audit committees in the Smith
Report and required the auditor to confirm that its ethics and independence policies complied with the requirements of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. The Group policy on the use of the auditor for non audit work is monitored by the committee.
The committee also oversaw the development of an internal audit function through the establishment of the IMI Assurance Department. The
committee recommended and the Board approved the proposal to re-appoint the external auditor at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The committee regularly calls upon the Chairman, Chief Executive, Finance Director and other personnel, including the Controller
and the Group Assurance Manager, to attend for parts of its meetings and report to the committee. The committee approved the foregoing
report on its work.

The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Sir Chips Keswick until 1 November 2003 when Mr J W Leng was appointed as its chairman.
The two other independent non-executive directors are members of the Remuneration Committee. The committee’s main responsibilities are
to determine the remuneration policy and individual terms and conditions in respect of the executive directors including new appointments
and to set the Chairman’s remuneration. As well as salary and annual bonuses, the committee is responsible for the structure and level of
performance related elements of executive remuneration and pensions. The committee also reviews the packages of those at the next most
senior level of management. The committee met on three occasions during the year. External consultants were engaged by the committee
to provide advice and the Chairman and Chief Executive attended its meetings when required.

The Nominations Committee comprises the Chairman, who chairs the Committee, the three independent non-executive directors and the
Chief Executive. The committee met on two occasions in 2003. During the year the committee reviewed Board composition and made
nominations for appointments to executive and non-executive positions on the Board. The committee nominated candidates for one non-
executive and two executive appointments. In relation to the non-executive position, the committee received assistance from external
consultants and recommended the appointment of  Mr T M Gateley, who joined the Board on 1 November 2003. He was appointed on the
basis of a standard form of appointment letter for non-executive directors which had been reviewed and updated by the committee in the
light of the new Combined Code. The committee also reviewed the roles of the non-executive directors and made recommendations, which
were approved by the Board, concerning the composition and chairmanship of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and
regarding the choice of a successor to the retiring senior independent non-executive director. Candidates for the two executive positions
were met by all members of the Board and the committee made the recommendations to the Board which led to the appointments of
Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney. The committee approved the foregoing report on its work.

The Executive Committee of the Board is chaired by the Chief Executive and consists of all the executive directors. It meets monthly and
more often as may be required in order to monitor performance, review business management issues and formulate budgets and proposals
on strategy, policy and resource allocation for consideration by the Board. Its minutes are circulated to all members of the Board. It also acts
as the Risk Committee of the Board. Senior executives from around the Group are regularly called upon to attend meetings of the Executive
Committee.

Investor relations

The annual general meeting is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet and communicate with shareholders, particularly
private investors. The 2003 annual general meeting was chaired by the Chairman, and attended by the chairmen of the standing committees
of the Board and all of the other directors. The Chairman encourages debate and questions at the formal meeting and informally during
refreshments afterwards.

Each substantially separate issue was put to the 2003 annual general meeting as an individual motion and the meeting was invited to adopt
and approve the financial statements and the directors’ report for 2002. A separate resolution for the approval of the remuneration report
was also put to the meeting. Notice of the 2003 annual general meeting was despatched more than twenty working days in advance and
the level of proxy votes lodged for and against each resolution, together with details of abstentions, were disclosed at the meeting and are
made available upon request from the Company Secretary.
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The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance and confirms that throughout the year ended 31 December 2003 the
Company has applied the principles of good governance contained in the Combined Code and complied with its best practice provisions 
as set out below in the Board’s report on corporate governance and in its remuneration report on pages 36 to 44.

With effect from 1 January 2004 a new Combined Code, issued by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003, became applicable to the
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executive directors. Management changes announced in December 2003 resulted in the number of executive directors increasing from three
to four in March 2004 and the Board intends to balance this in due course through the appointment of an additional non-executive director.
There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and Chief Executive, which is reflected in a written statement approved by
the Board. In summary, the Chairman is responsible for running the Board and plays a key role in the development of strategy but does not
have any executive role or responsibilities. The Chief Executive leads the executive management team in running the businesses and
implementing operating and strategic plans under authority delegated by the Board.

The non-executive directors are all free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their
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management performance. It has retained direct responsibility for matters not specifically delegated to the executive directors including
strategy and key areas of policy, major investment decisions and changes in the composition of the Group. The Board reviews detailed
budgets, forecasts and plans for the businesses of the Group on an annual basis. Quarterly meetings of the Board consider detailed financial
and management reports on the operational and strategic progress of the Group. Where appropriate, senior executives from around the
Group are invited by the Board to attend meetings to make presentations and join in discussion. Non-executive directors are encouraged to
become engaged with management and there is regular communication between management and non-executive directors. The Chairman
is responsible for ensuring that the Board meetings operate to an appropriate agenda, and that adequate information is provided sufficiently
in advance of meetings to allow proper consideration. He is supported by the Company Secretary, who also assists in ensuring that the Board
operates in accordance with good corporate governance under the Combined Code and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Board has a recognised procedure for any director to obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense and all directors
have access to the Company Secretary who is a solicitor. Directors and officers insurance is held by the Company and details have been
circulated to each director.

The Board normally meets formally six times a year and additional meetings were convened during the year for special purposes as the 
need arose.

The non-executive directors met as a group with the Chairman on several occasions during the year. From 2004, as part of his additional
responsibilities under the new Combined Code, the senior independent director will lead at least one such meeting in the absence of the
Chairman and arrange performance evaluation in respect of the Chairman.

Standing committees of the Board

The standing committees of the Board are the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nominations Committee and the
Executive Committee. Each of these committees operate under written terms of reference which clearly set out their respective delegated
responsibilities and authorities. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominations Committee were
revised in the light of the new Combined Code in December 2003. Summaries and full copies of these new terms of reference appear on the
Company website (www.imiplc.com). The Company Secretary acts as secretary to each of these committees.

The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr B L Staples until 1 November 2003 when Mr T M Gateley was appointed as its chairman. The two
other independent non-executive directors are members of the Audit Committee. Mr T M Gateley is qualified as a chartered accountant and
has significant relevant financial experience. The committee met three times during the year and received reports from the external auditor
who attended its meetings when required to do so. The committee’s work included reviewing the financial statements, accounting policies
and significant issues of judgement, internal financial controls, the proposed external audit approach and the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor. In assessing auditor independence the committee had regard to the guidance for audit committees in the Smith
Report and required the auditor to confirm that its ethics and independence policies complied with the requirements of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. The Group policy on the use of the auditor for non audit work is monitored by the committee.
The committee also oversaw the development of an internal audit function through the establishment of the IMI Assurance Department. The
committee recommended and the Board approved the proposal to re-appoint the external auditor at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The committee regularly calls upon the Chairman, Chief Executive, Finance Director and other personnel, including the Controller
and the Group Assurance Manager, to attend for parts of its meetings and report to the committee. The committee approved the foregoing
report on its work.

The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Sir Chips Keswick until 1 November 2003 when Mr J W Leng was appointed as its chairman.
The two other independent non-executive directors are members of the Remuneration Committee. The committee’s main responsibilities are
to determine the remuneration policy and individual terms and conditions in respect of the executive directors including new appointments
and to set the Chairman’s remuneration. As well as salary and annual bonuses, the committee is responsible for the structure and level of
performance related elements of executive remuneration and pensions. The committee also reviews the packages of those at the next most
senior level of management. The committee met on three occasions during the year. External consultants were engaged by the committee
to provide advice and the Chairman and Chief Executive attended its meetings when required.

The Nominations Committee comprises the Chairman, who chairs the Committee, the three independent non-executive directors and the
Chief Executive. The committee met on two occasions in 2003. During the year the committee reviewed Board composition and made
nominations for appointments to executive and non-executive positions on the Board. The committee nominated candidates for one non-
executive and two executive appointments. In relation to the non-executive position, the committee received assistance from external
consultants and recommended the appointment of  Mr T M Gateley, who joined the Board on 1 November 2003. He was appointed on the
basis of a standard form of appointment letter for non-executive directors which had been reviewed and updated by the committee in the
light of the new Combined Code. The committee also reviewed the roles of the non-executive directors and made recommendations, which
were approved by the Board, concerning the composition and chairmanship of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and
regarding the choice of a successor to the retiring senior independent non-executive director. Candidates for the two executive positions
were met by all members of the Board and the committee made the recommendations to the Board which led to the appointments of
Mr D C Nicholas and Mr W R Whitney. The committee approved the foregoing report on its work.

The Executive Committee of the Board is chaired by the Chief Executive and consists of all the executive directors. It meets monthly and
more often as may be required in order to monitor performance, review business management issues and formulate budgets and proposals
on strategy, policy and resource allocation for consideration by the Board. Its minutes are circulated to all members of the Board. It also acts
as the Risk Committee of the Board. Senior executives from around the Group are regularly called upon to attend meetings of the Executive
Committee.

Investor relations

The annual general meeting is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet and communicate with shareholders, particularly
private investors. The 2003 annual general meeting was chaired by the Chairman, and attended by the chairmen of the standing committees
of the Board and all of the other directors. The Chairman encourages debate and questions at the formal meeting and informally during
refreshments afterwards.

Each substantially separate issue was put to the 2003 annual general meeting as an individual motion and the meeting was invited to adopt
and approve the financial statements and the directors’ report for 2002. A separate resolution for the approval of the remuneration report
was also put to the meeting. Notice of the 2003 annual general meeting was despatched more than twenty working days in advance and
the level of proxy votes lodged for and against each resolution, together with details of abstentions, were disclosed at the meeting and are
made available upon request from the Company Secretary.
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Investor relations (continued)

The Company has arranged a dealing service for the convenience of shareholders with Cazenove & Co (contact details are shown on page
78). In addition to the annual report, the Company publishes an interim report to shareholders and issues trading updates at the mid-year
and in December. The Company has its own website (www.imiplc.com) which includes recordings of certain key presentations made by
senior management, recent annual and interim reports, trading updates, other corporate announcements and links to the websites of Group
businesses.

The Board as a whole seeks to maintain a balanced understanding of the issues and concerns of major shareholders. Dialogue is maintained
with shareholders and the executive directors regularly meet with institutional investors. The Chief Executive and Finance Director have
primary responsibility for investor relations and report to the Board at least quarterly in that connection. In addition, financial analysts’ notes
are circulated to the Board and regular feedback reports from the Company’s brokers are supplemented by periodic, independent surveys of
major investors’ views. The Chairman and senior independent non-executive director will meet with major shareholders upon request and
otherwise if either of them considers appropriate.

Board induction, continuing professional development and evaluation

A formal induction process for new directors has been in operation for several years. It is overseen and kept up to date by the Chairman with
support from the Chief Executive and Company Secretary. Mr J W Leng and Mr T M Gateley, who joined the Board in December 2002 and
November 2003 respectively, went through their main induction programme during 2003. During and after induction new directors are
encouraged to visit business units around the Group and to meet with operating management and corporate staff. Appropriate coaching
and access to training and other continuing professional development is available to all directors.

A formal process for the evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual directors will be put into effect during 2004. The Chairman will
arrange such evaluations. However, in evaluating the performance of the Chairman, the senior independent non-executive director will lead
the process of assessment with the other non-executives.

Corporate social responsibility

The Board takes account of the social, environmental and ethical impact of its decisions and sets a framework of relevant policies for the
Group. Through the Group’s risk assessment processes key issues of corporate social responsibility are identified and addressed.

Following a review in 2003, the Company successfully met the FTSE4Good global corporate responsibility criteria and was awarded
membership of the FTSE4Good Index. The Company was also selected as a member of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index.

More information on corporate social responsibility matters is given on pages 24 to 27 and on the Company website (www.imiplc.com).

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and confirms that the system of internal control accords with
the relevant guidance issued in September 1999 by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (the “Turnbull Committee
Guidance”).

Consistent with the Turnbull Committee Guidance, the Board has assigned responsibility for the continuous review of risk management and
controls to the Executive Committee. During the year the Board received reports on risk issues from the Executive Committee and reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control in relation to financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management.
In addition, the Audit Committee considered and reported to the Board on the financial aspects of internal control including the nature and
scope of external audit. The committee also oversaw the development of an internal audit function through the establishment of the IMI
Assurance Department.

Each operating unit is required to undertake a continuous process of business risk assessment and reporting. This is reviewed by the most
senior executive within the relevant business and any major risk issues are referred to the Executive Committee at least quarterly. The
Executive Committee makes regular reports to the Board on major business risks faced by individual operations and by the Group and how 
it is proposed that those risks be managed. Through this process business risks are identified, assessed and ranked according to their nature
and urgency and the Board considers what measures would be appropriate in order to manage such risks.

The Board has clearly defined those matters which are reserved to it and the respective delegated authorities of its committees and the
executive directors.

The Group has a clear organisational structure and well established reporting and control disciplines. Managers of operating units assume
responsibility for and exercise a high degree of autonomy in running day-to-day trading activities. They do this within a framework of clear
rules and policies regarding business conduct, approval of proposals for investment and material changes in operations.

All operating units prepare forward plans annually which make projections for a period of three years. These plans are reviewed in detail by
executive directors and consolidated for review by the Board. Performance against forecast is continuously monitored by the executive
directors, reviewed at monthly meetings of the Executive Committee and on a quarterly basis by the Board. Minimum standards for
accounting systems and controls, which are documented and monitored, are promulgated throughout the Group. Certified quarterly reports
are required from senior executives of operating units, confirming compliance with Group standards. There is also a central internal audit
function, IMI Assurance Department, which operates a rolling programme of internal assurance reporting and reviews. These include on site
reviews of selected operating units which are carried out by the IMI Assurance Department and co-ordinated with the divisional financial
management review processes and external audit. Additionally, visits to operations are carried out by Group finance personnel in conjunction
with the external auditor.

Capital investments are subject to a clear process for investment appraisal, authorisation and post-investment review, with major investment
proposals referred for consideration by the Executive Committee or the Board, as appropriate, according to their materiality.

In addition, the Executive Committee regularly reviews the operation of corporate policies and controls in relation to treasury activities,
environmental issues, health and safety, human resources, ethical trading, taxation, insurance, legal and regulatory compliance. Reports are
made to the Board at least annually and more often, as appropriate, to keep the Board informed and enable it to consider internal control
issues and developments.

Through the procedures outlined above the Board has considered all significant aspects of internal control for the year 2003 and up to the
date of this Annual Report. The Board believes that the Group’s system of internal control, which is designed to manage rather than eliminate
risk, provides reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

By order of the Board
John O’Shea
Company Secretary
8 March 2004 
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Investor relations (continued)
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otherwise if either of them considers appropriate.
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A formal process for the evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual directors will be put into effect during 2004. The Chairman will
arrange such evaluations. However, in evaluating the performance of the Chairman, the senior independent non-executive director will lead
the process of assessment with the other non-executives.
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The Board takes account of the social, environmental and ethical impact of its decisions and sets a framework of relevant policies for the
Group. Through the Group’s risk assessment processes key issues of corporate social responsibility are identified and addressed.

Following a review in 2003, the Company successfully met the FTSE4Good global corporate responsibility criteria and was awarded
membership of the FTSE4Good Index. The Company was also selected as a member of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index.

More information on corporate social responsibility matters is given on pages 24 to 27 and on the Company website (www.imiplc.com).

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and confirms that the system of internal control accords with
the relevant guidance issued in September 1999 by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (the “Turnbull Committee
Guidance”).

Consistent with the Turnbull Committee Guidance, the Board has assigned responsibility for the continuous review of risk management and
controls to the Executive Committee. During the year the Board received reports on risk issues from the Executive Committee and reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control in relation to financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management.
In addition, the Audit Committee considered and reported to the Board on the financial aspects of internal control including the nature and
scope of external audit. The committee also oversaw the development of an internal audit function through the establishment of the IMI
Assurance Department.

Each operating unit is required to undertake a continuous process of business risk assessment and reporting. This is reviewed by the most
senior executive within the relevant business and any major risk issues are referred to the Executive Committee at least quarterly. The
Executive Committee makes regular reports to the Board on major business risks faced by individual operations and by the Group and how 
it is proposed that those risks be managed. Through this process business risks are identified, assessed and ranked according to their nature
and urgency and the Board considers what measures would be appropriate in order to manage such risks.

The Board has clearly defined those matters which are reserved to it and the respective delegated authorities of its committees and the
executive directors.

The Group has a clear organisational structure and well established reporting and control disciplines. Managers of operating units assume
responsibility for and exercise a high degree of autonomy in running day-to-day trading activities. They do this within a framework of clear
rules and policies regarding business conduct, approval of proposals for investment and material changes in operations.

All operating units prepare forward plans annually which make projections for a period of three years. These plans are reviewed in detail by
executive directors and consolidated for review by the Board. Performance against forecast is continuously monitored by the executive
directors, reviewed at monthly meetings of the Executive Committee and on a quarterly basis by the Board. Minimum standards for
accounting systems and controls, which are documented and monitored, are promulgated throughout the Group. Certified quarterly reports
are required from senior executives of operating units, confirming compliance with Group standards. There is also a central internal audit
function, IMI Assurance Department, which operates a rolling programme of internal assurance reporting and reviews. These include on site
reviews of selected operating units which are carried out by the IMI Assurance Department and co-ordinated with the divisional financial
management review processes and external audit. Additionally, visits to operations are carried out by Group finance personnel in conjunction
with the external auditor.

Capital investments are subject to a clear process for investment appraisal, authorisation and post-investment review, with major investment
proposals referred for consideration by the Executive Committee or the Board, as appropriate, according to their materiality.

In addition, the Executive Committee regularly reviews the operation of corporate policies and controls in relation to treasury activities,
environmental issues, health and safety, human resources, ethical trading, taxation, insurance, legal and regulatory compliance. Reports are
made to the Board at least annually and more often, as appropriate, to keep the Board informed and enable it to consider internal control
issues and developments.

Through the procedures outlined above the Board has considered all significant aspects of internal control for the year 2003 and up to the
date of this Annual Report. The Board believes that the Group’s system of internal control, which is designed to manage rather than eliminate
risk, provides reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

By order of the Board
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Remuneration Committee
The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year were Mr J W Leng (Chairman of committee from 1 November 2003),
Mr B L Staples, Mr T M Gateley (appointed 1 November 2003) and Sir Chips Keswick (retired 31 October 2003). All of the foregoing were
regarded by the Board as independent non-executive directors. The committee consulted the Chairman, Mr G J Allen, on various matters and
the Chief Executive, Mr M J Lamb, regarding the remuneration of the other executive directors and senior managers. It also received the
advice and services of the Finance Director, Mr T J Slack, who acted as its secretary until December 2003, and the Company Secretary,
Mr J O’Shea, who was appointed secretary to the committee in December 2003. Deloitte & Touche LLP was engaged by the committee to
provide advice on directors’ remuneration to the committee. During the year Deloitte & Touche LLP also provided financial and tax consulting
services to the Company.

Statement of policy

Non-executive directors’ remuneration and terms of appointment
The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined, after reference to external benchmarks, by the Chairman and the executive
directors. The policy on non-executive remuneration is to pay an appropriate level on a comparative basis for their time and work on the
Board and its committees. They do not participate in any bonus or employee share schemes of the Company and no part of their
remuneration is conditional upon the performance of the Company. Current policy is that non-executive directors are normally appointed for
an initial period of three years. After their initial term, non-executive directors’ appointments are reviewed and may be renewed for further
periods of up to three years at a time. The appointment of the Chairman is renewable on an annual basis. Appointments are made under a
letter of agreement subject to retirement by rotation or removal under the Company’s Articles of Association. There are no provisions for the
Company to give notice or pay compensation in relation to the early termination of the appointment of the Chairman or any non-executive
director. There is a provision in non-executive appointment letters to the effect that a non-executive director is normally expected to give
one month’s prior notice of termination to the Company. The dates and unexpired terms of the letters of appointment for the non-executive
directors are as follows:

Date of letter of appointment Unexpired term as at 31 December 2003

Mr G J Allen:

As Non-executive Director 10.05.01 4 months

As Chairman 01.05.03 4 months

Sir Chips Keswick 07.05.02 (retired 31 October 2003)

Mr J W Leng 06.11.02 1 year 10 months

Mr B L Staples 01.05.03 4 months

Mr T M Gateley 23.10.03 2 years 10 months

Executive directors’ remuneration and terms of appointment
The Company aims to ensure that remuneration generally and incentives in particular provide strong links between individual performance,
Company performance and shareholder interests. The remuneration policy also recognises that the Company operates in global and highly
competitive markets with over two thirds of its activities outside the UK.

The policy is to provide competitive remuneration packages to attract, motivate, reward and retain executives of the calibre required, and to
align their interests with those of shareholders by relating a significant element of the remuneration package to specific performance
measures.

The Remuneration Committee considers it to be important to maintain the flexibility to respond to individual circumstances. However, its
normal approach is to pay salaries within appropriate market competitive ranges, combined with realistic potentials for above market total
compensation if performance is outstanding. Remuneration comprises basic salaries, annual performance bonuses and benefits in kind,
pension arrangements and participation in an executive share option scheme and a long term incentive plan.

The aggregate performance based remuneration under the annual bonus arrangements and long term incentive plan represents a maximum
level of 110% of basic salary on an annual basis for Mr M J Lamb and  Mr T J Slack, and up to 90% in the case of Mr R B Pointon. In addition,
executive share options were granted in the year subject to performance conditions and represent a potentially significant element of total
remuneration.

In setting the remuneration of each executive director, the Remuneration Committee takes into account their role and responsibilities, skills
and individual performance and has reference to market rates as evidenced by published studies and comparisons with international UK-
based groups of a similar size and complexity. In this connection the committee engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP to undertake appropriate
comparative studies.

Consistent with the policy on service contracts, the executive directors, Mr M J Lamb, Mr R B Pointon and Mr T J Slack, have rolling service
contracts subject to termination on one year’s notice by the Company or the executive. All such contracts allow the Company to elect to
make payment in lieu of notice but do not include any other specific provision for compensation payable upon early termination. It is the

policy of the Remuneration Committee to limit any compensation which might be paid in the event of early termination of an executive
directors’ contract to the legal minima, taking into account mitigation and other relevant factors.

Executive directors’ service contracts automatically terminate at their normal retirement age of 60. Mr R B Pointon is however retiring early on
31 March 2004 at age 57 with the agreement of the Board. No compensation for loss of office or termination is payable to Mr Pointon. The
appointment of two new executive directors was announced in December 2003 and became effective on 1 March 2004. Their terms are
consistent with the foregoing policies. The dates of the contracts and period to normal retirement age for those serving as executive
directors during the year are as follows:

Date of service contract Notice period Period to normal retirement age as at 31 December 2003

Mr M J Lamb 1 February 1999 12 months 17 years

Mr R B Pointon 1 February 1999 12 months 3 years 2 months (retiring on 31 March 2004)

Mr T J Slack 1 February 1999 12 months 2 years 9 months

Annual bonus
Executive directors are awarded annual performance bonuses. Maximum bonus is only payable if the challenging targets set by the
Remuneration Committee are met. The policy is for annual bonus targets to relate to corporate financial measures, including profit, cash
generation and relative share price performance against the FTSE Engineering Sector Index, with a small discretionary element to reflect
personal contribution and the achievement of strategic objectives. The bonus maximum for 2003 was 60% (2002: 60%) of salary for 
Mr M J Lamb and Mr T J Slack, to each of whom bonuses of 60% (2002: 26.5%) were paid, and 40%  (2002: 40%) for Mr R B Pointon, to whom a
bonus of 40% (2002: 15.9%) was paid. Annual bonus arrangements for 2004 are structured and targeted in a similar manner as those
applicable in relation to 2003. Annual bonuses are non-pensionable except for Mr R B Pointon, who retires on 31 March 2004. Annual
bonuses for the two new executive appointments, which became effective on 1 March 2004, are in accordance with the Company’s policy 
of non-pensionable bonus arrangements.

Share options
Each executive director is eligible for the grant of executive share options under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme. Options granted
under this scheme are subject to stretching performance conditions, currently tiered performance conditions related to growth in earnings
per share above inflation over a fixed period of three financial years. Earnings per share was chosen because it is well recognised and
understood as a performance measure for executive share options. For options granted over shares representing one times salary,
vesting requires growth in earnings per share of at least 6% above the rate of increase in the UK Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) over a three year
performance period. This hurdle doubles to 12% growth above RPI for awards representing between one and two times salary, and rises to
24% for awards of between two and three times salary. The Remuneration Committee has a policy of awarding annual share option grants to
executive directors up to two years prior to normal retirement age, with the level of grant individually determined for each executive director.
The current policy is to make awards, where appropriate, of up to two times salary to executive directors and up to three times salary for the
Chief Executive. Details of share options granted to directors in the year are set out on page 43. The Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme is
also available to other selected senior executives of the Group.

Options are priced at full market value without discount. There is no retesting of performance conditions and options will therefore lapse if
applicable performance conditions are not met in the relevant three year performance period. The first options were granted under this
policy in September 2001 and will lapse because the performance conditions for the three year performance period ending 31 December
2003 were not satisfied.

Inland Revenue Approved and Unapproved options granted under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme before September 2001 and
outstanding at the year-end are subject to performance related conditions and only become exercisable if growth in earnings per share
during any three consecutive financial years over a period of ten years (seven years for the Unapproved options granted between September
1996 and March 1998) exceeds growth in RPI by at least 6%. This was chosen as the appropriate measure at a time when grants were limited
to an aggregate level of shares for all outstanding share options of four times salary based on the option price. The performance condition
was not satisfied with respect to the three year performance period ending 31 December 2003.

The method adopted to assess whether performance conditions attached to options under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme were
satisfied by reference to earnings per share for the three years ended 31 December 2002, involved adjusting basic earnings per share for
goodwill amortisation and exceptional items and, because of the significant Group wide rationalisation and restructuring measures, the costs
of that programme. The auditor reviewed the reported adjusted earnings per share and confirmed that the adjustments made were fair and
reasonable. This approach is consistent with the prior year.

Options granted under the Executive Share Option (1985) Scheme, which operated between 1985 and 1995 and was the forerunner to the
current share option scheme, were not subject to performance conditions. This was in line with comparable share option schemes set up in
the 1980s when shareholders approved the scheme.

Long term incentives
In 2002 a long term incentive plan (‘LTIP’) was approved by shareholders and the first awards were made to executive directors and other
selected senior executives in the Group. The LTIP allows cash-awards to senior executives, including executive directors, up to a maximum
potential value of 50% of salary for each year of participation. The policy is to make an annual LTIP award to each executive director up to
one year prior to normal retirement age. LTIP awards to executive directors are subject to performance conditions related to the economic
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generation and relative share price performance against the FTSE Engineering Sector Index, with a small discretionary element to reflect
personal contribution and the achievement of strategic objectives. The bonus maximum for 2003 was 60% (2002: 60%) of salary for 
Mr M J Lamb and Mr T J Slack, to each of whom bonuses of 60% (2002: 26.5%) were paid, and 40%  (2002: 40%) for Mr R B Pointon, to whom a
bonus of 40% (2002: 15.9%) was paid. Annual bonus arrangements for 2004 are structured and targeted in a similar manner as those
applicable in relation to 2003. Annual bonuses are non-pensionable except for Mr R B Pointon, who retires on 31 March 2004. Annual
bonuses for the two new executive appointments, which became effective on 1 March 2004, are in accordance with the Company’s policy 
of non-pensionable bonus arrangements.

Share options
Each executive director is eligible for the grant of executive share options under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme. Options granted
under this scheme are subject to stretching performance conditions, currently tiered performance conditions related to growth in earnings
per share above inflation over a fixed period of three financial years. Earnings per share was chosen because it is well recognised and
understood as a performance measure for executive share options. For options granted over shares representing one times salary,
vesting requires growth in earnings per share of at least 6% above the rate of increase in the UK Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) over a three year
performance period. This hurdle doubles to 12% growth above RPI for awards representing between one and two times salary, and rises to
24% for awards of between two and three times salary. The Remuneration Committee has a policy of awarding annual share option grants to
executive directors up to two years prior to normal retirement age, with the level of grant individually determined for each executive director.
The current policy is to make awards, where appropriate, of up to two times salary to executive directors and up to three times salary for the
Chief Executive. Details of share options granted to directors in the year are set out on page 43. The Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme is
also available to other selected senior executives of the Group.

Options are priced at full market value without discount. There is no retesting of performance conditions and options will therefore lapse if
applicable performance conditions are not met in the relevant three year performance period. The first options were granted under this
policy in September 2001 and will lapse because the performance conditions for the three year performance period ending 31 December
2003 were not satisfied.

Inland Revenue Approved and Unapproved options granted under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme before September 2001 and
outstanding at the year-end are subject to performance related conditions and only become exercisable if growth in earnings per share
during any three consecutive financial years over a period of ten years (seven years for the Unapproved options granted between September
1996 and March 1998) exceeds growth in RPI by at least 6%. This was chosen as the appropriate measure at a time when grants were limited
to an aggregate level of shares for all outstanding share options of four times salary based on the option price. The performance condition
was not satisfied with respect to the three year performance period ending 31 December 2003.

The method adopted to assess whether performance conditions attached to options under the Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme were
satisfied by reference to earnings per share for the three years ended 31 December 2002, involved adjusting basic earnings per share for
goodwill amortisation and exceptional items and, because of the significant Group wide rationalisation and restructuring measures, the costs
of that programme. The auditor reviewed the reported adjusted earnings per share and confirmed that the adjustments made were fair and
reasonable. This approach is consistent with the prior year.

Options granted under the Executive Share Option (1985) Scheme, which operated between 1985 and 1995 and was the forerunner to the
current share option scheme, were not subject to performance conditions. This was in line with comparable share option schemes set up in
the 1980s when shareholders approved the scheme.

Long term incentives
In 2002 a long term incentive plan (‘LTIP’) was approved by shareholders and the first awards were made to executive directors and other
selected senior executives in the Group. The LTIP allows cash-awards to senior executives, including executive directors, up to a maximum
potential value of 50% of salary for each year of participation. The policy is to make an annual LTIP award to each executive director up to
one year prior to normal retirement age. LTIP awards to executive directors are subject to performance conditions related to the economic
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profit of the Group as a whole. The performance measurement period is normally three years but for its introduction the scheme allowed for
a two year performance period in respect of initial LTIP awards made in 2002. Again, as with executive share options, there is no retesting
against performance conditions after the relevant period of measurement.
Economic profit was chosen for the LTIP performance measure because it combines profitability with return on capital in a single measure
and is being used across the Group as a management decision-making tool. Economic profit is based on the net operating profit after tax of
the Group derived from the audited financial statements and adjusted for goodwill. A capital charge relating to the weighted average cost of
capital for the Group is applied to invested capital including all goodwill.
At the end of the performance period, the net of tax value of LTIP payments earned by the executive directors must normally be invested in
market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares pursuant to a deferred share plan. Such share purchases are to be made through an
employee trust and held for a further three year period. After that period, an executive director will receive a matching award of one
additional share for every four with no further performance conditions.

The LTIP performance targets set by the Remuneration Committee are based on challenging internal goals for profitable growth. It is
intended to disclose relevant details for each award after its maturity. The first LTIP awards to mature are the initial awards made in 2002.
Based on the cumulative net operating profit after tax derived from the audited accounts for the performance period, the economic profit
generated was £13m below the minimum required for any vesting to occur. As a consequence the initial awards made in 2002 have lapsed
without any payments to the executive directors.

SAYE plan
The Company operates an Inland Revenue approved savings-related share option scheme which is open to the majority of the Group’s UK
employees, including the executive directors, and allows the grant of options to all participants at a discount of up to 20 per cent below the
market price. Such schemes are not subject to performance conditions and offer tax incentives to encourage employees to use their own
money to purchase shares in their employer’s business or group.

All Employee Share Ownership Plan
The executive directors also participate in an All Employee Share Ownership Plan covering UK employees of certain operations. In May 2004
shares to a value equal to the lesser of £3,000 and 1.2% of each participant’s basic salary will be acquired at market value by the trustee of the
plan in respect of their participation during 2003. The plan is not operated subject to specific performance conditions but the level of shares
awarded to participating employees is set taking into account performance, in particular that of the UK operations of the Group. Each of the
executive directors also participate in the plan by making the maximum contribution from their salary towards partnership shares under the
plan. Up to two matching shares may be awarded for every one partnership share acquired under the plan although the policy to date has
been not to award any matching shares.

Save as indicated below, the remainder of this report has been audited.

Pension entitlement
Executive directors participate in the IMI Pension Fund. Their normal retirement age under the Fund is 60, although they may elect to retire
and receive a pension at any time after age 57 without a discount. On retirement, pensions are guaranteed for five years, and on death a
dependant’s pension is provided equal to two-thirds of the member’s pension. Pensions in payment, in excess of any guaranteed minimum
pension, are increased each year in line with price inflation up to a maximum of 5%.

Details of the pension benefits earned during 2003 are summarised in the following table.

Name Age at Pensionable Accrued Increase Increase Transfer Transfer Difference Value of Increase
31.12.03 service pension in accrued in accrued value of value of between increase due to

to 31.12.03 at pension pension accrued accrued transfer in accrued other
31.12.03 over the over the pension pension values at pension at factors

year year (net at at 31.12.02 31.12.03 (net
of inflation) 31.12.03 31.12.02 and of inflation) 

31.12.03

£000 pa £000 pa £000 pa £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

M J Lamb 43 17 161 41 39 1,509 1,013 496 362 134
R B Pointon 56 22 189 32 29 3,883 2,856 1,027 590 437
T J Slack 57 28 190 24 21 3,903 3,092 811 438 373

The accrued pension benefits at the end of the year represents the annual deferred pension to which each executive director would have
been entitled had he left service at the end of the year. This is based on completed pensionable service and pensionable earnings at the
relevant date. The increase in the accrued pension during the year reflects the completion of a further year’s pensionable service and the
increase in pensionable earnings, both before and after inflation. There have been no changes to pension benefit arrangements in respect of
any executive director during 2003.

The above figures exclude any benefits from the executive directors’ voluntary contributions.

Transfer values calculated in accordance with the guidance note GN11 published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries are also shown in
the table. A transfer value is the estimated capital value of the future pension payments in retirement.

The difference between the transfer values of the directors’ pension benefits at the end of 2002 and the end of 2003 is much greater than the
value of the increase in the accrued pension. This is due in large part to changes in market conditions and the impact of the actuarial
assumptions used for calculating transfer values.

The transfer values as at 31 December 2002 have been restated, following clarification of the statutory requirements, to reflect in full the value
of pensions assuming a normal retirement at 57 rather than at 60. The figures shown in the 2002 accounts and the corresponding restated
figures are shown below.

As shown in the 2002 accounts Restated

Name Transfer value of accrued Transfer value of accrued
pension at 31.12.02 pension at 31.12.02

£000 £000

M J Lamb 836 1,013
R B Pointon 2,203 2,856
T J Slack 2,381 3,092

Non-executive directors are not members of any Group pension scheme except for Mr G J Allen who retired as an executive director on 
11 May 2001 and is a pensioner member of the IMI Pension Fund.

Summary of directors’ remuneration

Sums by 
way of 

Salary taxable
and Non-cash expense Total Total
fees benefits allowances Bonus 2003 2002

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-executive
G J Allen 155 - - 155 150
T M Gateley 6 - - 6 -
Sir Chips Keswick 24 - - 24 25
J W Leng 30 - - 30 2
B L Staples 30 - - 30 25

Executive
M J Lamb 458 2 18 273 751 568
R B Pointon 283 26 - 112 421 333
T J Slack 283 22 - 168 473 362

Total 1269 50 18 553 1890
Total 2002 1465

Remuneration shown above as salaries for non-executive directors includes fees of £70,000 (2002: £45,000). No compensation for loss of 
office was paid to or receivable by any director in 2003 and none will be payable on the early retirement of Mr R B Pointon at the end of
March 2004.

Benefits in kind provided to executive directors consist of the provision of a fully expensed motor car for all except Mr M J Lamb, who 
elected for a cash alternative scheme, and private health care arrangements.
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profit of the Group as a whole. The performance measurement period is normally three years but for its introduction the scheme allowed for
a two year performance period in respect of initial LTIP awards made in 2002. Again, as with executive share options, there is no retesting
against performance conditions after the relevant period of measurement.
Economic profit was chosen for the LTIP performance measure because it combines profitability with return on capital in a single measure
and is being used across the Group as a management decision-making tool. Economic profit is based on the net operating profit after tax of
the Group derived from the audited financial statements and adjusted for goodwill. A capital charge relating to the weighted average cost of
capital for the Group is applied to invested capital including all goodwill.
At the end of the performance period, the net of tax value of LTIP payments earned by the executive directors must normally be invested in
market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares pursuant to a deferred share plan. Such share purchases are to be made through an
employee trust and held for a further three year period. After that period, an executive director will receive a matching award of one
additional share for every four with no further performance conditions.

The LTIP performance targets set by the Remuneration Committee are based on challenging internal goals for profitable growth. It is
intended to disclose relevant details for each award after its maturity. The first LTIP awards to mature are the initial awards made in 2002.
Based on the cumulative net operating profit after tax derived from the audited accounts for the performance period, the economic profit
generated was £13m below the minimum required for any vesting to occur. As a consequence the initial awards made in 2002 have lapsed
without any payments to the executive directors.

SAYE plan
The Company operates an Inland Revenue approved savings-related share option scheme which is open to the majority of the Group’s UK
employees, including the executive directors, and allows the grant of options to all participants at a discount of up to 20 per cent below the
market price. Such schemes are not subject to performance conditions and offer tax incentives to encourage employees to use their own
money to purchase shares in their employer’s business or group.

All Employee Share Ownership Plan
The executive directors also participate in an All Employee Share Ownership Plan covering UK employees of certain operations. In May 2004
shares to a value equal to the lesser of £3,000 and 1.2% of each participant’s basic salary will be acquired at market value by the trustee of the
plan in respect of their participation during 2003. The plan is not operated subject to specific performance conditions but the level of shares
awarded to participating employees is set taking into account performance, in particular that of the UK operations of the Group. Each of the
executive directors also participate in the plan by making the maximum contribution from their salary towards partnership shares under the
plan. Up to two matching shares may be awarded for every one partnership share acquired under the plan although the policy to date has
been not to award any matching shares.

Save as indicated below, the remainder of this report has been audited.

Pension entitlement
Executive directors participate in the IMI Pension Fund. Their normal retirement age under the Fund is 60, although they may elect to retire
and receive a pension at any time after age 57 without a discount. On retirement, pensions are guaranteed for five years, and on death a
dependant’s pension is provided equal to two-thirds of the member’s pension. Pensions in payment, in excess of any guaranteed minimum
pension, are increased each year in line with price inflation up to a maximum of 5%.

Details of the pension benefits earned during 2003 are summarised in the following table.

Name Age at Pensionable Accrued Increase Increase Transfer Transfer Difference Value of Increase
31.12.03 service pension in accrued in accrued value of value of between increase due to

to 31.12.03 at pension pension accrued accrued transfer in accrued other
31.12.03 over the over the pension pension values at pension at factors

year year (net at at 31.12.02 31.12.03 (net
of inflation) 31.12.03 31.12.02 and of inflation) 

31.12.03

£000 pa £000 pa £000 pa £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

M J Lamb 43 17 161 41 39 1,509 1,013 496 362 134
R B Pointon 56 22 189 32 29 3,883 2,856 1,027 590 437
T J Slack 57 28 190 24 21 3,903 3,092 811 438 373

The accrued pension benefits at the end of the year represents the annual deferred pension to which each executive director would have
been entitled had he left service at the end of the year. This is based on completed pensionable service and pensionable earnings at the
relevant date. The increase in the accrued pension during the year reflects the completion of a further year’s pensionable service and the
increase in pensionable earnings, both before and after inflation. There have been no changes to pension benefit arrangements in respect of
any executive director during 2003.

The above figures exclude any benefits from the executive directors’ voluntary contributions.

Transfer values calculated in accordance with the guidance note GN11 published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries are also shown in
the table. A transfer value is the estimated capital value of the future pension payments in retirement.

The difference between the transfer values of the directors’ pension benefits at the end of 2002 and the end of 2003 is much greater than the
value of the increase in the accrued pension. This is due in large part to changes in market conditions and the impact of the actuarial
assumptions used for calculating transfer values.

The transfer values as at 31 December 2002 have been restated, following clarification of the statutory requirements, to reflect in full the value
of pensions assuming a normal retirement at 57 rather than at 60. The figures shown in the 2002 accounts and the corresponding restated
figures are shown below.

As shown in the 2002 accounts Restated

Name Transfer value of accrued Transfer value of accrued
pension at 31.12.02 pension at 31.12.02

£000 £000

M J Lamb 836 1,013
R B Pointon 2,203 2,856
T J Slack 2,381 3,092

Non-executive directors are not members of any Group pension scheme except for Mr G J Allen who retired as an executive director on 
11 May 2001 and is a pensioner member of the IMI Pension Fund.

Summary of directors’ remuneration

Sums by 
way of 

Salary taxable
and Non-cash expense Total Total
fees benefits allowances Bonus 2003 2002

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-executive
G J Allen 155 - - 155 150
T M Gateley 6 - - 6 -
Sir Chips Keswick 24 - - 24 25
J W Leng 30 - - 30 2
B L Staples 30 - - 30 25

Executive
M J Lamb 458 2 18 273 751 568
R B Pointon 283 26 - 112 421 333
T J Slack 283 22 - 168 473 362

Total 1269 50 18 553 1890
Total 2002 1465

Remuneration shown above as salaries for non-executive directors includes fees of £70,000 (2002: £45,000). No compensation for loss of 
office was paid to or receivable by any director in 2003 and none will be payable on the early retirement of Mr R B Pointon at the end of
March 2004.

Benefits in kind provided to executive directors consist of the provision of a fully expensed motor car for all except Mr M J Lamb, who 
elected for a cash alternative scheme, and private health care arrangements.
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External appointments

Executive directors may accept one external appointment with the consent of the Board, and are normally allowed to retain fees from
external non-executive directorships. Currently, Mr M J Lamb is a non-executive director of Spectris plc, which paid him remuneration of
£25,000 in 2003 and Mr R B Pointon is a non-executive director of Shanks Group plc, which paid him remuneration of £27,500 in 2003.

Directors’ share options

Directors’ share options outstanding at 31 December 2003 were as follows:

Scheme Code M J Lamb R B Pointon T J Slack

A 3,013 1,890 869

B 1,707 2,498

C 1,208

D 1,679 1,477

E 467

F 4,980 865

G 3,000 8,000

H 1,500 80,000 15,000

I 50,000 75,000 1,000

J 50,000

K 50,000 30,000 35,000

L 50,000 25,000 50,000

M 35,000 45,000

N 100,000 20,000 80,000

O 472,500* 234,000* 234,000*

P 310,000 145,000 145,000

Q 418,500 210,000 210,000

TOTAL 1,498,879 823,890 880,384

*Options marked O will lapse in September 2004.

The key to scheme codes in the foregoing table and further relevant details are as follows:-

Scheme
Date of grant Performance conditions Price Date of exercise code 

IMI SAYE Share Option 07.04.98 n/a 365p 01.07.05 A
(1994) Scheme

06.04.99 " 254p 01.08.04 or 01.08.06 B

13.04.00 " 201p 01.07.05 or 01.07.07 C

09.04.01 " 201p 01.07.04, 01.07.06 or D
01.07.08

08.04.02 " 244p 01.08.05, 01.08.07 or E
01.08.09

08.04.03 " 201p 01.08.06, 01.08.08 or F
01.08.10

(SAYE options are 
exercisable within 6 
months of the dates 
shown above and 
otherwise expire).

IMI Executive Share  07.04.94 " 349.9p 07.04.97 to 07.04.04 G
Option (1985) Scheme

11.04.95 " 301.3p 11.04.98 to 11.04.05 H

IMI Executive Share 26.03.97 6% eps growth above RPI 390.8p 26.03.00 to 26.03.05 I
Option (1995) Scheme
(see note marked* below) 18.09.97 " 384.9p 18.09.00 to 18.09.05 J

25.03.98 "        455.1p 25.03.01 to 25.03.06 K

24.03.99 " 284.6p 24.03.02 to 24.03.09 L

22.03.00 " 226.6p 22.03.03 to 22.03.10 M

03.04.01 " 248.4p 03.04.04 to 03.04.11 N

24.09.01 6%, 12% and 24% eps growth 214.4p 24.09.04 to 24.09.11 O
above RPI 

25.09.02 " 274.0p 25.09.05 to 25.09.12 P

02.04.03 " 256.9p 02.04.06 to 02.04.13 Q
(Executive share options
expire if not exercised
or lapsed within the 
periods shown above).

*Performance conditions for Options I to N are based on earnings per share (“eps”) growth of 6% above the UK Retail Price Index (“RPI”) and
the same for options O to Q as regards shares representing one times salary at the option price but options O to Q require 12% and 24% eps
growth above RPI, respectively, for shares representing between one and two times salary and two and three times salary. Options O to Q do
not allow retesting and will lapse if the applicable performance conditions are not satisfied in the relevant three year performance period.

Options marked O were granted in September 2001 and will lapse in September 2004 because performance conditions for the three years
ending 31 December 2003 were not met.
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External appointments

Executive directors may accept one external appointment with the consent of the Board, and are normally allowed to retain fees from
external non-executive directorships. Currently, Mr M J Lamb is a non-executive director of Spectris plc, which paid him remuneration of
£25,000 in 2003 and Mr R B Pointon is a non-executive director of Shanks Group plc, which paid him remuneration of £27,500 in 2003.

Directors’ share options

Directors’ share options outstanding at 31 December 2003 were as follows:

Scheme Code M J Lamb R B Pointon T J Slack

A 3,013 1,890 869

B 1,707 2,498

C 1,208

D 1,679 1,477
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F 4,980 865

G 3,000 8,000

H 1,500 80,000 15,000

I 50,000 75,000 1,000

J 50,000

K 50,000 30,000 35,000

L 50,000 25,000 50,000

M 35,000 45,000

N 100,000 20,000 80,000

O 472,500* 234,000* 234,000*

P 310,000 145,000 145,000

Q 418,500 210,000 210,000

TOTAL 1,498,879 823,890 880,384

*Options marked O will lapse in September 2004.

The key to scheme codes in the foregoing table and further relevant details are as follows:-
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Date of grant Performance conditions Price Date of exercise code 

IMI SAYE Share Option 07.04.98 n/a 365p 01.07.05 A
(1994) Scheme

06.04.99 " 254p 01.08.04 or 01.08.06 B

13.04.00 " 201p 01.07.05 or 01.07.07 C

09.04.01 " 201p 01.07.04, 01.07.06 or D
01.07.08

08.04.02 " 244p 01.08.05, 01.08.07 or E
01.08.09

08.04.03 " 201p 01.08.06, 01.08.08 or F
01.08.10

(SAYE options are 
exercisable within 6 
months of the dates 
shown above and 
otherwise expire).

IMI Executive Share  07.04.94 " 349.9p 07.04.97 to 07.04.04 G
Option (1985) Scheme

11.04.95 " 301.3p 11.04.98 to 11.04.05 H

IMI Executive Share 26.03.97 6% eps growth above RPI 390.8p 26.03.00 to 26.03.05 I
Option (1995) Scheme
(see note marked* below) 18.09.97 " 384.9p 18.09.00 to 18.09.05 J

25.03.98 "        455.1p 25.03.01 to 25.03.06 K

24.03.99 " 284.6p 24.03.02 to 24.03.09 L

22.03.00 " 226.6p 22.03.03 to 22.03.10 M

03.04.01 " 248.4p 03.04.04 to 03.04.11 N
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*Performance conditions for Options I to N are based on earnings per share (“eps”) growth of 6% above the UK Retail Price Index (“RPI”) and
the same for options O to Q as regards shares representing one times salary at the option price but options O to Q require 12% and 24% eps
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ending 31 December 2003 were not met.
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Directors‘ long term incentive plan interests

Details of entitlements under the long term incentive plan of persons who were directors during the year are set out below.

At 1 January 2003 Awarded At 31 December 2003
during 2003

M J Lamb nil up to 50% of salary (a) up to 50% of salary potentially 
potentially vesting in vesting for each year of the two 

respect of the three year year performance period ending   
performance period ending 31 December 2003 

31 December 2005 (b) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2004 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2005

R B Pointon nil up to 50% of salary (a) up to 50% of salary potentially 
potentially vesting in vesting for each year of the two 

respect of the three year year performance period ending   
performance period ending 31 December 2003 

31 December 2005 (b) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2004 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2005

T J Slack nil up to 50% of salary (a) up to 50% of salary potentially 
potentially vesting in vesting for each year of the two 

respect of the three year year performance period ending   
performance period ending 31 December 2003 

31 December 2005 (b) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2004 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2005

LTIP awards marked (a) were made in 2002 subject to a two year performance period and lapsed without payment in March 2004
because the minimum performance condition was not met. Awards are otherwise subject to a three year performance period and
potentially vest in March of the year following the performance period end date shown above. References in the above table to
salary are to annual salary for the final year of the relevant performance period. If and when any award vests in future years, the net
of income tax amount will be used in respect of the linked deferred share plan to purchase shares at the market prices that then
apply. No variations to the terms and conditions of the LTIP awards shown above were made during the year.

Options during the year

Directors at Shares held Interest at Interest at Granted Exercised Lapsed Option Mid-market 
31.12. 2003 and options 31.12. 2003 01. 01. 2003 price price at 

granted over or date of date of 
ordinary shares appointment exercise

if later

G J Allen Ordinary shares 207,914 207,589

T M Gateley Ordinary shares nil nil

M J Lamb Ordinary shares 39,271 36,937
Options a 11,379 6,399 4,980 201p
Options b 1,500 7,000 5,500 265.7p
Options c 1,486,000 1,097,500 418,500 256.9p

30,000 398.9p

J W Leng Ordinary shares 10,000 nil

R B Pointon Ordinary shares 10,773 9,266
Options a 1,890 1,890
Options b 83,000 93,000 10,000 265.7p
Options c 739,000 559,000 210,000 256.9p

30,000 398.9p

T J Slack Ordinary shares 26,188 24,549
Options a 7,384 7,178 865 201p

659 314p
Options b 23,000 28,500 5,500 265.7p
Options c 850,000 659,000 210,000 256.9p

19,000 398.9p

B L Staples Ordinary shares 3,000 3,000

Directors' interests

Whilst the Board has not set a formal shareholding requirement, all of the executive directors hold interests in the ordinary shares of the
company (as detailed below) and any amounts earned by the executive directors under the long term incentive plan will be invested in
shares through an employee trust for a three year holding period. All of the non-executive directors hold shares in the Company except for
Mr T M Gateley, who joined the Board in November 2003.

The interests (all being beneficial) of the directors and their families in the share capital of the Company are shown below, together with their
interests in options granted to them pursuant to the rules of the IMI Savings-Related Share Option Schemes (marked "a") and the rules of the
IMI Executive Share Option (1985) Scheme (marked "b") and the rules of the IMI Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme (marked "c").

No variations to the terms and conditions of options shown in the above tables was made during the year. During the period 31 December
2003 to 8 March 2004 there were no changes in the interests of any current director from those shown save for: purchases within the IMI All
Employee Share Ownership Plan on 13 January 2004 of 37 shares on behalf of each of Mr M J Lamb and Mr T J Slack and 36 shares on behalf
of Mr R B Pointon, in each case at £3.40 per share, and on 10 February 2004 of 36 shares on behalf of each of Mr M J Lamb, Mr R B Pointon
and Mr T J Slack at £3.48 per share. Further Mr R B Pointon’s option over 1,890 shares and Mr T J Slack’s option over 869 shares under the IMI
Savings Related Share Option Scheme (at an exercise price of £3.65 in each case) lapsed on 1 January 2004.

The closing price of the Company's ordinary shares at 31 December 2003 was 337.25p per share and the price range during the year was
230p to 356.5p.
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Directors‘ long term incentive plan interests

Details of entitlements under the long term incentive plan of persons who were directors during the year are set out below.
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vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2004 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2005
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vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2004 

(c) up to 50% of salary potentially 
vesting in respect of the three year 

performance period ending           
31 December 2005
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performance period ending           
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performance period ending           
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potentially vest in March of the year following the performance period end date shown above. References in the above table to
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Options during the year

Directors at Shares held Interest at Interest at Granted Exercised Lapsed Option Mid-market 
31.12. 2003 and options 31.12. 2003 01. 01. 2003 price price at 

granted over or date of date of 
ordinary shares appointment exercise

if later
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M J Lamb Ordinary shares 39,271 36,937
Options a 11,379 6,399 4,980 201p
Options b 1,500 7,000 5,500 265.7p
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19,000 398.9p

B L Staples Ordinary shares 3,000 3,000

Directors' interests
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2003 to 8 March 2004 there were no changes in the interests of any current director from those shown save for: purchases within the IMI All
Employee Share Ownership Plan on 13 January 2004 of 37 shares on behalf of each of Mr M J Lamb and Mr T J Slack and 36 shares on behalf
of Mr R B Pointon, in each case at £3.40 per share, and on 10 February 2004 of 36 shares on behalf of each of Mr M J Lamb, Mr R B Pointon
and Mr T J Slack at £3.48 per share. Further Mr R B Pointon’s option over 1,890 shares and Mr T J Slack’s option over 869 shares under the IMI
Savings Related Share Option Scheme (at an exercise price of £3.65 in each case) lapsed on 1 January 2004.

The closing price of the Company's ordinary shares at 31 December 2003 was 337.25p per share and the price range during the year was
230p to 356.5p.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of IMI plc
We have audited the financial statements on pages 46 to 75. We have also audited the information in the directors’ remuneration report that
is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the directors’ remuneration report. As described on page 31 this includes
responsibility for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards. Our
responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices Board, the Listing Rules of
the Financial Services Authority, and by our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the
part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also
report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper
accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the statement on page 32 reflects the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified
for our review by the Listing Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the corporate governance statement and the unaudited part of the
directors’ remuneration report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider the implications for
our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report
to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be
audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be
audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

� the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2003 and of the 
profit of the Group for the year then ended; and 

� the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 1985.

KPMG Audit Plc, Birmingham

Chartered Accountants

Registered Auditor

8 March 2004

Total shareholder return performance graph This section of this report is not required to be audited.

The graph below compares the Company’s total shareholder return over the five years ended 31 December 2003 with that for the FTSE All
Share Index and the FTSE Engineering and Machinery Sector Index. The FTSE Engineering and Machinery Sector Index was chosen as a
comparator index because it offered a reasonable reflection upon the relative performance of the Company and is used as one of the
performance measures for the purpose of annual bonuses. The FTSE All Share Index was chosen as it is a relevant broad equity market index.
Over the past five years the IMI share price has outperformed the FTSE Engineering and Machinery index by 59.4% and the FTSE All Share
Index by 72.0%. Over the same period total shareholder return has outperformed the FTSE Engineering and Machinery Index by 70.0% and
the FTSE All Share Index by100.8%.

Approved by the Board on 8 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

James W Leng

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Before Goodwill Before Goodwill
goodwill amortisation exceptionals amortisation

and rational- and rational- goodwill and and rational- Exceptional
isation isation Total rationalisation isation items Total

2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002 2002
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 1,2
Continuing operations 1565 1565 1453 1453
Discontinued operations 8 8 159 159

Total turnover 1573 1573 1612 1612

Operating profit 1,2
Continuing operations before 

rationalisation 153.5 (19.7) 133.8 145.6 (18.0) 127.6
Rationalisation (5.7) (5.7) (31.0) (31.0)

Total continuing operations 153.5 (25.4) 128.1 145.6 (49.0) 96.6
Discontinued operations - - - 2.6 (1.2) 1.4

Operating profit 153.5 (25.4) 128.1 148.2 (50.2) 98.0
Profit on disposal of 
discontinued operations 3 - 4.0 4.0
Provision for loss on closure  
of a business 3 - (30.7) (30.7)
Profit on disposal of property - 19.7 19.7

Profit before interest 153.5 (25.4) 128.1 148.2 (50.2) (7.0) 91.0

Net interest payable 5 (10.9) (10.9) (16.7) (16.7)

Profit on ordinary 
activities before taxation 142.6 (25.4) 117.2 131.5 (50.2) (7.0) 74.3

Tax on profit 6 (47.1) 1.9 (45.2) (42.1) 10.3 14.2 (17.6)

Profit on ordinary 
activities after taxation 95.5 (23.5) 72.0 89.4 (39.9) 7.2 56.7

Equity minority interests (1.0) (1.0) (1.3) (1.3)

Profit for the financial year 7 94.5 (23.5) 71.0 88.1 (39.9) 7.2 55.4

Dividends paid and proposed 8 (54.8) (54.6)

Transfer to reserves 21 16.2 0.8

Adjusted earnings per share 9 26.8p 25.0p
Earnings per share 9 20.1p 15.7p
Diluted earnings per share 9 20.1p 15.7p

Notes 2003 2002
£m £m

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 11 317.9 302.5
Tangible assets 12 292.6 313.4

610.5 615.9

Current assets
Stocks 14 243.3 262.0
Debtors 15 304.4 305.5
Investments 8.2 8.2
Cash and deposits 81.3 74.3

637.2 650.0
Creditors:
amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings and finance leases 16,18 (76.7) (65.1)
Other creditors 16 (379.6) (380.2)

(456.3) (445.3)

Net current assets 180.9 204.7

Total assets less current liabilities 791.4 820.6

Creditors:
amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings and finance leases 17, 18 (140.9) (182.7)
Other creditors 17 (31.4) (25.9)

(172.3) (208.6)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (76.1) (81.0)

Net assets 543.0 531.0

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 88.3 88.1
Share premium account 21 136.5 134.1
Revaluation reserve 21 1.0 1.0
Other reserves 21 1.6 1.6
Profit and loss account 21 312.0 303.1

Equity shareholders’ funds 539.4 527.9

Minority interest 3.6 3.1

543.0 531.0

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

Gary Allen
Chairman
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Net current assets 180.9 204.7

Total assets less current liabilities 791.4 820.6

Creditors:
amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings and finance leases 17, 18 (140.9) (182.7)
Other creditors 17 (31.4) (25.9)

(172.3) (208.6)
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Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 88.3 88.1
Share premium account 21 136.5 134.1
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Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

Gary Allen
Chairman
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GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT STATEMENT OF GROUP TOTAL 
RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating profit 128.1 98.0
Depreciation and goodwill amortisation 85.8 89.3
Stocks decrease 20.9 16.8
Debtors decrease/(increase) 2.7 (0.6)
Creditors and provisions (decrease)/increase (6.5) 26.8

Net cash inflow from operating activities 231.0 230.3

Net cash inflow from operating activities 231.0 230.3
Return on investments and servicing of finance (11.8) (16.7)
Taxation (41.5) (13.8)
Capital expenditure and financial investment (36.0) (11.3)
Acquisitions and disposals (56.0) 26.3
Equity dividends paid (54.7) (54.5)

Cash flow before use of liquid resources and financing 31.0 160.3
Management of liquid resources 4.5 (3.3)
Financing
Issue of ordinary shares 2.5 1.8
Decrease in borrowings (35.1) (141.5)

(32.6) (139.7)

Increase in cash in the year 2.9 17.3

Reconciliation of net cash to movement in net borrowings

Increase in cash in the year 2.9 17.3
Cash used to repay borrowings 35.1 141.5
Cash (inflow)/outflow from movement in liquid resources (4.5) 3.3

Change in borrowings resulting from cash flows 33.5 162.1
Currency translation differences 3.7 9.7

Movement in net borrowings in the year 37.2 171.8
Net borrowings at 1 January (173.5) (345.3)

Net borrowings at 31 December (136.3) (173.5)

Notes on the cash flow appear in note 23.

GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2003

For the year ended 31 December 2003

2003 2002
£m £m

Profit for the financial year 71.0 55.4
Currency translation differences (7.2) 1.3

Total recognised gains and losses for the financial year 63.8 56.7

There is no material difference between the profit before taxation and the retained profit for the year as shown in the Group profit
and loss account and their historical cost equivalent.

2003 2002
£m £m

Profit for the financial year 71.0 55.4
Dividends (54.8) (54.6)

16.2 0.8
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the financial year (7.3) 1.2
New ordinary share capital issued 2.6 1.9
Previously acquired goodwill taken through the profit and loss account in

arriving at the profit for the financial year - 33.3

Net increase in shareholders’ funds for the year 11.5 37.2
Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 527.9 490.7

Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 539.4 527.9

GROUP HISTORICAL COST PROFITS AND LOSSES

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

Notes 2003 2002
£m £m

Fixed assets
Investments 13 563.4 585.4

Current assets
Debtors 15 205.2 56.6

Creditors:
amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 16 (91.5) (73.7)
Other creditors 16 (36.0) (37.7)

(127.5) (111.4)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 77.7 (54.8)

Total assets less current liabilities 641.1 530.6

Creditors:
amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 17 (81.0) (115.6)
Other creditors 17 (42.8) (42.7)

(123.8) (158.3)

Net assets 517.3 372.3

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 88.3 88.1
Share premium account 21 136.5 134.1
Other reserves 21 1.6 1.6
Profit and loss account 21 290.9 148.5

Equity shareholders’ funds 517.3 372.3

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

Gary Allen
Chairman

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of certain tangible fixed assets
and in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of IMI plc and all of its subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 December
2003. The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or sold during the year are included from the date of acquisition or to the date of
disposal. Acquisitions during the year have been recognised by the acquisition method of accounting.

The Company has not presented a separate profit and loss account as is permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. The profit and loss accounts of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at the appropriate average rate of exchange for the year
and the adjustment to year end rates is taken directly to reserves. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the opening net assets
of  foreign subsidiaries, foreign currency loans used for overseas investment and transactions executed solely for the purpose of hedging
foreign currency assets exposure are taken directly to reserves. Differences arising on revenue transactions in the year are reflected in profit
before taxation.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in respect of acquisitions completed after 1 January 1998, being the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of
the net assets acquired and associated costs, is capitalised as a fixed asset and amortised on a straight line basis from the date of acquisition
over its estimated useful life up to a maximum of 20 years. Goodwill arising from acquisitions completed prior to 1 January 1998, when FRS10:
‘Goodwill and intangible assets’ was adopted, was deducted from reserves in the year of acquisition. Goodwill previously deducted from
reserves is taken through the profit and loss account when acquired businesses are sold or closed. The net assets of businesses acquired are
incorporated into the consolidated financial statements at their fair value to the Group. Fair value adjustments are always considered to be
provisional at the first balance sheet date after acquisition to allow the maximum time to elapse for management to make a reliable estimate.

Tangible fixed assets
Freehold land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of other
tangible fixed assets to residual values over the period of their estimated useful lives within the following ranges:

Freehold buildings 25 to 50 years
Leasehold land and buildings period of lease
Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

Expenditure on patents purchased by the Group is charged against profits in the year in which it is incurred.

Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is charged against profits in the year in which it is incurred, except for expenditure on tangible
fixed assets which is capitalised and depreciated in the normal manner.
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At 31 December 2003

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

Notes 2003 2002
£m £m
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Other reserves 21 1.6 1.6
Profit and loss account 21 290.9 148.5

Equity shareholders’ funds 517.3 372.3

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

Gary Allen
Chairman
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The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of certain tangible fixed assets
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The Company has not presented a separate profit and loss account as is permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. The profit and loss accounts of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at the appropriate average rate of exchange for the year
and the adjustment to year end rates is taken directly to reserves. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the opening net assets
of  foreign subsidiaries, foreign currency loans used for overseas investment and transactions executed solely for the purpose of hedging
foreign currency assets exposure are taken directly to reserves. Differences arising on revenue transactions in the year are reflected in profit
before taxation.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in respect of acquisitions completed after 1 January 1998, being the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of
the net assets acquired and associated costs, is capitalised as a fixed asset and amortised on a straight line basis from the date of acquisition
over its estimated useful life up to a maximum of 20 years. Goodwill arising from acquisitions completed prior to 1 January 1998, when FRS10:
‘Goodwill and intangible assets’ was adopted, was deducted from reserves in the year of acquisition. Goodwill previously deducted from
reserves is taken through the profit and loss account when acquired businesses are sold or closed. The net assets of businesses acquired are
incorporated into the consolidated financial statements at their fair value to the Group. Fair value adjustments are always considered to be
provisional at the first balance sheet date after acquisition to allow the maximum time to elapse for management to make a reliable estimate.
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Freehold land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of other
tangible fixed assets to residual values over the period of their estimated useful lives within the following ranges:

Freehold buildings 25 to 50 years
Leasehold land and buildings period of lease
Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

Expenditure on patents purchased by the Group is charged against profits in the year in which it is incurred.

Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is charged against profits in the year in which it is incurred, except for expenditure on tangible
fixed assets which is capitalised and depreciated in the normal manner.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Segmental analysis

Operating profit
before goodwill

amortisation and 
Turnover rationalisation Operating profit Operating assets

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

BY ACTIVITY

Fluid Controls 747 661 80.1 65.2 72.2 46.7 210 221

Severe Service 168 148 20.3 17.3 19.5 16.8 34 48
Fluid Power 410 379 36.0 25.3 30.1 9.8 145 154
Indoor Climate 169 134 23.8 22.6 22.6 20.1 31 19

Retail Dispense 448 437 40.4 42.3 36.9 26.5 105 109

Beverage Dispense 278 312 22.2 28.6 21.2 14.4 74 82
Merchandising Systems 170 125 18.2 13.7 15.7 12.1 31 27

Building Products 370 355 33.0 33.1 19.0 18.4 125 141

1565 1453 153.5 140.6 128.1 91.6 440 471

Pension credit (note 24) - 5.0 - 5.0 - -

Total continuing operations 1565 1453 153.5 145.6 128.1 96.6 440 471

BY GEOGRAPHICAL ORIGIN

UK 464 426 42.2 39.4 27.0 20.7 152 157
Rest of Europe 531 470 62.5 52.7 60.6 40.8 161 171
The Americas 510 501 43.2 42.5 34.9 24.5 114 129
Asia/Pacific 60 56 5.6 6.0 5.6 5.6 13 14

1565 1453 153.5 140.6 128.1 91.6 440 471
Pension credit (note 24) - 5.0 - 5.0 - -

Total continuing operations 1565 1453 153.5 145.6 128.1 96.6 440 471

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In respect of work in progress and finished goods, cost includes all direct costs
of production and the appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Turnover
Turnover represents amounts invoiced by the Group in respect of goods and services provided during the year, excluding sales between
Group companies and sales related taxes.

Long term contracts
Income and profits on long term contracts are recognised in proportion to the value of work done on the contract after making an estimate
of costs to complete and risks associated with the contract. Full provision is made for any losses in the year in which they are first foreseen.

Taxation
Except where otherwise required by accounting standards, full provision without discounting is made for the tax on all timing differences
which have arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet date.

Pensions and post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world which cover the majority of Group employees. With certain exceptions
referred to in the notes relating to the financial statements the funds of the plans are administered by Trustees and are separate from the
Group. Valuations are normally carried out every three years by independent actuaries and annual contributions are paid to the plans in
accordance with their recommendations.

The amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated so as to spread the cost of
pensions over the average remaining service life of the employees in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries. The amount charged
in respect of defined contribution plans is in accordance with the rules of the plans.

Full provision is made for the current actuarial liability of US post-retirement medical and life assurance plans.

Leasing
Assets acquired under hire purchase and finance leasing contracts are recorded in the balance sheet as fixed assets at their equivalent capital
value and are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. The corresponding liability is recorded as a creditor and the interest element of the
amount paid is charged against profits. Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account as they arise.
The majority of leasing transactions entered into by the Group are operating leases.

Financial instruments
To qualify as a hedge, a financial instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets or liabilities or to a probable commitment.
It must involve the same currency or similar currencies as the hedged item and must also reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange
movements on the Group’s operations. Gains and losses arising on these contracts are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss
account, or as adjustments to the carrying amount of fixed assets, only when the hedged transaction has itself been reflected in the Group’s
accounts.

If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge, for example, because the underlying hedged position is eliminated, the instrument is
marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL DESTINATION
2003 2002

£m £m

UK 424 387
Germany 185 162
Rest of Europe 345 308
USA 447 438
Asia/Pacific 101 97
Rest of World 63 61

Total continuing operations 1565 1453
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Segmental analysis

Operating profit
before goodwill

amortisation and 
Turnover rationalisation Operating profit Operating assets

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
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1565 1453 153.5 140.6 128.1 91.6 440 471

Pension credit (note 24) - 5.0 - 5.0 - -

Total continuing operations 1565 1453 153.5 145.6 128.1 96.6 440 471
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1565 1453 153.5 140.6 128.1 91.6 440 471
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Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In respect of work in progress and finished goods, cost includes all direct costs
of production and the appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Turnover
Turnover represents amounts invoiced by the Group in respect of goods and services provided during the year, excluding sales between
Group companies and sales related taxes.

Long term contracts
Income and profits on long term contracts are recognised in proportion to the value of work done on the contract after making an estimate
of costs to complete and risks associated with the contract. Full provision is made for any losses in the year in which they are first foreseen.

Taxation
Except where otherwise required by accounting standards, full provision without discounting is made for the tax on all timing differences
which have arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet date.

Pensions and post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world which cover the majority of Group employees. With certain exceptions
referred to in the notes relating to the financial statements the funds of the plans are administered by Trustees and are separate from the
Group. Valuations are normally carried out every three years by independent actuaries and annual contributions are paid to the plans in
accordance with their recommendations.

The amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated so as to spread the cost of
pensions over the average remaining service life of the employees in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries. The amount charged
in respect of defined contribution plans is in accordance with the rules of the plans.

Full provision is made for the current actuarial liability of US post-retirement medical and life assurance plans.

Leasing
Assets acquired under hire purchase and finance leasing contracts are recorded in the balance sheet as fixed assets at their equivalent capital
value and are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. The corresponding liability is recorded as a creditor and the interest element of the
amount paid is charged against profits. Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account as they arise.
The majority of leasing transactions entered into by the Group are operating leases.

Financial instruments
To qualify as a hedge, a financial instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets or liabilities or to a probable commitment.
It must involve the same currency or similar currencies as the hedged item and must also reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange
movements on the Group’s operations. Gains and losses arising on these contracts are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss
account, or as adjustments to the carrying amount of fixed assets, only when the hedged transaction has itself been reflected in the Group’s
accounts.

If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge, for example, because the underlying hedged position is eliminated, the instrument is
marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL DESTINATION
2003 2002

£m £m

UK 424 387
Germany 185 162
Rest of Europe 345 308
USA 447 438
Asia/Pacific 101 97
Rest of World 63 61

Total continuing operations 1565 1453
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2003 2002
RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS £m £m

Operating assets of continuing operations 440 471
Discontinued operations - 2
Intangible fixed assets 318 303
Investments 8 8
Net borrowings (136) (173)
Taxation liabilities and dividend payable (87) (80)

Net assets per Group balance sheet 543 531

2. Operating profit
2003 2002

Continuing Discontinued Total Continuing Discontinued Total
operations operations operations operations

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 1565.0 7.7 1572.7 1452.9 159.0 1611.9
Cost of sales (955.3) (6.3) (961.6) (908.6) (132.5) (1041.1)

Gross profit 609.7 1.4 611.1 544.3 26.5 570.8
Distribution costs (244.8) (0.9) (245.7) (223.9) (13.2) (237.1)
Administrative expenses (237.7) (0.5) (238.2) (225.4) (11.9) (237.3)
Other operating income 0.9 - 0.9 1.6 - 1.6

Operating profit 128.1 - 128.1 96.6 1.4 98.0

4. The following have been charged/(credited) in arriving 
at profit before taxation 2002

£m £m £m

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 66.1 71.3 
Amortisation of goodwill 19.7 18.0 
Impairment of goodwill 10.0
Recovery from third party (10.0) - - 
Auditor’s remuneration*

Fees and expenses 2.2 2.1 
Non-audit services:

Statutory services 0.5 0.5
Further accounting services 0.3 -
Tax advisory services 0.9 1.0

Rentals under operating leases:
Property rents 14.3 13.9 
Hire of plant and machinery 8.2 6.2 

Research and development expenditure 28.0 28.0

* In addition to the above, amounts paid to the UK auditors in respect of fees included in cost of investment were £126,000 (2002: £20,000).

5. Net interest payable
2003 2002 

£m £m 

Interest payable:
Bank loans and overdrafts 4.3 8.3 
Interest on finance leases 0.5 0.5
Other loans 12.4 13.8 

17.2 22.6 
Interest receivable (6.3) (5.9)

10.9 16.7

Acquisitions
Acquisitions in the period were not sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure on the face of the profit and loss account.
Of the reported increase in turnover and operating profit of continuing operations (before goodwill amortisation), £68m and £5.4m
respectively result from the 2003 acquisitions of Artform International Ltd (Merchandising Systems), Commtech Group (Indoor Climate) and
Fluid Kinetics (Severe Service) together with the extra months from the 2002 acquisitions of DCI Marketing (Merchandising Systems) and STI
(Severe Service).

Discontinued operations 
Amounts shown for discontinued operations relate to our air-conditioning business, which was sold in November 2003. This business was
previously reported within Building Products and UK.

Comparatives for 2002 comprise the turnover and operating profits of the businesses sold (Eley shotgun cartridge, Copper Fittings and
Copper Tube) and closed (ISI Systems).

3. Exceptional items

There were no exceptional items in 2003. In 2002, profit on disposal of discontinued operations arose from the disposals of the Copper
Fittings, Copper Tube and Eley shotgun cartridge businesses.

The 2002 provision for loss on closure of a business related to the closure of the ISI Systems business.

1. Segmental analysis (continued)

6. Taxation
2003 2002

£m £m

UK corporation tax
Current tax on income for the period 19.7 19.7
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (1.1) (1.3)

18.6 18.4
Double taxation relief (0.6) (1.8)

18.0 16.6

Foreign tax
Current tax on income for the period 26.7 14.5
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 0.9 (0.6)

27.6 13.9

Total current taxation 45.6 30.5

Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of timing differences (0.4) (12.9)

45.2 17.6

2003
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2003 2002
RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS £m £m

Operating assets of continuing operations 440 471
Discontinued operations - 2
Intangible fixed assets 318 303
Investments 8 8
Net borrowings (136) (173)
Taxation liabilities and dividend payable (87) (80)
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Distribution costs (244.8) (0.9) (245.7) (223.9) (13.2) (237.1)
Administrative expenses (237.7) (0.5) (238.2) (225.4) (11.9) (237.3)
Other operating income 0.9 - 0.9 1.6 - 1.6

Operating profit 128.1 - 128.1 96.6 1.4 98.0

4. The following have been charged/(credited) in arriving 
at profit before taxation 2002

£m £m £m

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 66.1 71.3 
Amortisation of goodwill 19.7 18.0 
Impairment of goodwill 10.0
Recovery from third party (10.0) - - 
Auditor’s remuneration*

Fees and expenses 2.2 2.1 
Non-audit services:

Statutory services 0.5 0.5
Further accounting services 0.3 -
Tax advisory services 0.9 1.0

Rentals under operating leases:
Property rents 14.3 13.9 
Hire of plant and machinery 8.2 6.2 

Research and development expenditure 28.0 28.0

* In addition to the above, amounts paid to the UK auditors in respect of fees included in cost of investment were £126,000 (2002: £20,000).

5. Net interest payable
2003 2002 

£m £m 

Interest payable:
Bank loans and overdrafts 4.3 8.3 
Interest on finance leases 0.5 0.5
Other loans 12.4 13.8 

17.2 22.6 
Interest receivable (6.3) (5.9)

10.9 16.7

Acquisitions
Acquisitions in the period were not sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure on the face of the profit and loss account.
Of the reported increase in turnover and operating profit of continuing operations (before goodwill amortisation), £68m and £5.4m
respectively result from the 2003 acquisitions of Artform International Ltd (Merchandising Systems), Commtech Group (Indoor Climate) and
Fluid Kinetics (Severe Service) together with the extra months from the 2002 acquisitions of DCI Marketing (Merchandising Systems) and STI
(Severe Service).

Discontinued operations 
Amounts shown for discontinued operations relate to our air-conditioning business, which was sold in November 2003. This business was
previously reported within Building Products and UK.

Comparatives for 2002 comprise the turnover and operating profits of the businesses sold (Eley shotgun cartridge, Copper Fittings and
Copper Tube) and closed (ISI Systems).

3. Exceptional items

There were no exceptional items in 2003. In 2002, profit on disposal of discontinued operations arose from the disposals of the Copper
Fittings, Copper Tube and Eley shotgun cartridge businesses.

The 2002 provision for loss on closure of a business related to the closure of the ISI Systems business.

1. Segmental analysis (continued)

6. Taxation
2003 2002

£m £m

UK corporation tax
Current tax on income for the period 19.7 19.7
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (1.1) (1.3)

18.6 18.4
Double taxation relief (0.6) (1.8)

18.0 16.6

Foreign tax
Current tax on income for the period 26.7 14.5
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 0.9 (0.6)

27.6 13.9

Total current taxation 45.6 30.5

Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of timing differences (0.4) (12.9)

45.2 17.6

2003
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6. Taxation (continued)

The tax rate on profit before exceptional items and goodwill amortisation is around 33%, in line with the Group’s underlying tax rate.
A reconciliation is provided below:

2003 2002
£m £m

Corporate tax on profit before tax at 33% (2002: 32%) 38.6 26.0
Effects of:
Non-taxable and non-deductible items 2.5 2.1
Non-tax deductible goodwill 5.2 4.6
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1.3 1.8
Utilisation/carry forward of tax losses (3.0) (1.8)
Differences in tax rates on earnings 1.2 (1.7)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (0.2) (1.9)

Current tax on profit before exceptional items 45.6 29.1
Current tax on exceptional items - 1.4

Total current tax for the period 45.6 30.5
Deferred tax (credit)/charge on profit before exceptional items (0.4) 2.7
Deferred tax credit on exceptional items - (15.6)

Tax charge in profit and loss account 45.2 17.6

Factors that may affect future tax charges

A deferred tax asset in respect of losses carried forward has only been recognised to the extent that the losses are deemed recoverable.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries.

The Group’s underlying tax rate (33%) is higher than the UK corporation tax rate (30%) due to profits earned in higher rate tax economies,
principally USA and Germany.

7. Profits applicable to shareholders of IMI plc

Of the Group profit of £71.0m (2002: £55.4m), £197.3m (2002: £55.1m) has been dealt with in the profit and loss account of the Company.

8. Dividends
2003 2002

£m £m

Ordinary dividend:
Interim 6.0p (2002: 6.0p) 21.2 21.1
Proposed final 9.5p (2002: 9.5p) 33.6 33.5

54.8 54.6

9. Earnings per ordinary share

The weighted average number of shares in issue during the year was 352.8m, 353.7m diluted for the effect of outstanding share options
(2002: 351.8m, 352.7m diluted). Earnings per share have been calculated on earnings of £71.0m (2002: £55.4m). The directors consider that
adjusted earnings per share figures, using earnings as calculated below, give a more meaningful indication of the underlying performance.

2003 2002
£m £m

Profit for the period 71.0 55.4
Goodwill amortisation 19.7 18.0
Exceptional items (after tax) - (7.2)
Rationalisation (after tax) 3.8 21.9 

Earnings for adjusted EPS 94.5 88.1

10. Employee information

The number of people employed by the Group on average each month during the year was:
2003 2002

Fluid Controls 8388 7991
Retail Dispense 4228 4216
Building Products 3942 5141
Other 237 207 

16795 17555

The aggregate employment cost for the year was:
£m £m

Wages and salaries 395.9 396.3
Social security costs 57.7 53.7
Pension costs 15.1 14.7

468.7 464.7

Directors’ emoluments for the year were:
£000 £000

Emoluments for qualifying service 1890 1465

The detailed information concerning directors' emoluments, shareholdings and options is shown in the Remuneration Report on 
pages 36-44.
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6. Taxation (continued)

The tax rate on profit before exceptional items and goodwill amortisation is around 33%, in line with the Group’s underlying tax rate.
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The weighted average number of shares in issue during the year was 352.8m, 353.7m diluted for the effect of outstanding share options
(2002: 351.8m, 352.7m diluted). Earnings per share have been calculated on earnings of £71.0m (2002: £55.4m). The directors consider that
adjusted earnings per share figures, using earnings as calculated below, give a more meaningful indication of the underlying performance.
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£m £m

Profit for the period 71.0 55.4
Goodwill amortisation 19.7 18.0
Exceptional items (after tax) - (7.2)
Rationalisation (after tax) 3.8 21.9 

Earnings for adjusted EPS 94.5 88.1

10. Employee information

The number of people employed by the Group on average each month during the year was:
2003 2002

Fluid Controls 8388 7991
Retail Dispense 4228 4216
Building Products 3942 5141
Other 237 207 

16795 17555

The aggregate employment cost for the year was:
£m £m

Wages and salaries 395.9 396.3
Social security costs 57.7 53.7
Pension costs 15.1 14.7

468.7 464.7

Directors’ emoluments for the year were:
£000 £000

Emoluments for qualifying service 1890 1465

The detailed information concerning directors' emoluments, shareholdings and options is shown in the Remuneration Report on 
pages 36-44.
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13. Fixed assets - investments

Company Subsidiary undertakings

Shares Loans Total
£m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 at cost 54.6 530.8 585.4
Repayments - (22.0) (22.0)

At 31 December 2003 at cost 54.6 508.8 563.4

Details of subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2003 are shown on pages 74 and 75.

The Company's cost of investment in subsidiary undertakings is stated at the aggregate of (a) the cash consideration, (b) the nominal value of
the shares issued as consideration where sections 131 and 133 of the Companies Act 1985 apply and (c) in all other cases the market value of
the Company's shares on the date they were issued as consideration.

14. Stocks
2003 2002

£m £m

Raw materials and consumables 93.4 96.6
Work in progress 55.4 51.7
Finished goods 99.5 120.8
Payments on account (5.0) (7.1)

243.3 262.0

15. Debtors
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Falling due for payment within one year:
Trade debtors 248.2 253.5 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 200.6 55.8
Other debtors 20.5 20.2 4.2 -
Prepayments and accrued income 22.0 13.7 0.4 0.8
Deferred consideration 0.2 5.0 - -

290.9 292.4 205.2 56.6

Falling due for payment after more than one year:
Trade debtors 2.6 2.8 - -
Other debtors 6.2 5.0 - -
Pension fund prepayment 3.9 5.3 - -
Deferred consideration 0.8 - - -

13.5 13.1 - -

Total debtors 304.4 305.5 205.2 56.6

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:
2003 2002

£m £m

Freehold: land 10.0 13.8
buildings 98.4 103.5

Long leasehold 2.9 4.0
Short leasehold 4.6 2.4

115.9 123.7

Gross book value represents cost except for £1m in respect of revaluations of land and buildings in certain overseas subsidiaries.

Included in the total net book value is £0.9m (2002: £0.7m) in respect of assets acquired under finance leases.
Depreciation for the year on these assets was £0.4m (2002: £0.3m).

11. Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill

Gross book Net book
value Amortisation value

£m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 360.4 57.9 302.5
Exchange adjustments (7.5) (1.1) (6.4)
Acquisitions 51.5 - 51.5
Impairment 10.0 (10.0)
Amortisation 19.7 (19.7)

At 31 December 2003 404.4 86.5 317.9

Goodwill arising from the acquisitions in the year is being amortised over 20 years.

12. Tangible fixed assets
Assets in 
course of

Land & buildings Plant & machinery construction Total

Gross book Depre- Net book Gross book Depre- Net book Net book Net book
value ciation value value ciation value value value

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 206.9 83.2 123.7 698.8 517.5 181.3 8.4 313.4
Exchange adjustments 2.1 1.0 1.1 (0.2) (0.3) 0.1 (0.1) 1.1
Acquisitions 1.0 0.2 0.8 8.8 6.0 2.8 1.0 4.6
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (5.2) (4.6) (0.6) - (0.6)
Additions 3.0 - 3.0 40.4 - 40.4 7.2 50.6
Disposals (11.0) (4.5) (6.5) (25.7) (21.8) (3.9) - (10.4)
Transfers 1.4 - 1.4 8.7 - 8.7 (10.1) -
Depreciation for year - 7.6 (7.6) - 58.5 (58.5) - (66.1)

At  31 December 2003 203.4 87.5 115.9 725.6 555.3 170.3 6.4 292.6
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Group Company
Total borrowings and finance leases 2003 2002 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m

Secured 3.9 5.0 - -
Unsecured 137.0 177.7 81.0 115.6

Total loans 140.9 182.7 81.0 115.6

Group Company
Repayment of loans 2003 2002 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m

Bank loans
Between one and two years 2.9 1.1 - -
Between two and five years 0.4 28.4 - 25.5
In five years or more - 0.3 - -

3.3 29.8 - 25.5

Loan stock and other loans
Between one and two years 0.2 0.1 - -
Between two and five years 8.6 9.6 - -
In five years or more 128.8 143.2 81.0 90.1

137.6 152.9 81.0 90.1

Total loans 140.9 182.7 81.0 115.6

Of the loans and loan stock repayable more than five years from the balance sheet date, the US loan notes mature between 2007 and 2022.
Loans repayable by instalments any of which are payable after five years are included above as follows: loan stock and other loans £0.6m.

Group Company
Other creditors 2003 2002 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 42.8 42.7
Overseas taxation 22.0 18.3 - -
Accruals and deferred income 9.4 7.6 - -

31.4 25.9 42.8 42.7

18. Financial instruments
Currency profile of assets and liabilities

Assets excluding Exchange Net asset Net asset
cash and debt Cash Debt contracts exposure exposure

2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 356 6 (71) 193 484 490
US Dollar 156 24 (137) (31) 12 (6)
Euro 115 21 (6) (137) (7) 1
Other 53 30 (4) (25) 54 46

Total 680 81 (218) – 543 531

Exchange contracts are financial instruments used as currency hedges of overseas net assets.

16. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group Company

Borrowings and finance leases 2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts 25.6 8.9 40.9 17.7
Obligations under finance leases 0.2 0.1 - -
Other loans 50.9 56.1 50.6 56.0

76.7 65.1 91.5 73.7

The Group borrowings include bank loans and overdrafts of £4.5m (2002: £3.1m), obligations under finance leases of £0.2m (2002: £0.1m) and
other loans of £0.1m (2002: £0.1m) which are secured by charges over the assets of certain subsidiary companies.

Other loans include £50.6m (2002: £55.9m) of floating rate loan stock 2004/2007 issued in respect of the Polypipe acquisition.

Group Company
Other creditors 2003 2002 2003 2002

£m £m £m £m

Trade creditors 153.7 156.5 - -
Bills of exchange payable 3.3 2.9 - -
UK corporation tax 10.6 9.8 - -
Other taxation 37.0 33.0 - -
Social security 5.3 5.0 - -
Other creditors 0.8 0.7 0.8 1.5
Accruals and deferred income 135.3 138.8 1.6 2.7
Proposed final dividend 33.6 33.5 33.6 33.5

379.6 380.2 36.0 37.7

17. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Group Company

Borrowings and finance leases 2003 2002 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m

Bank loans
Secured 3.3 4.3 - -
Unsecured - 25.5 - 25.5

3.3 29.8 - 25.5

Loan stock
Unsecured:
US loan notes (6.70% to 7.17%) 2007/22 55.9 62.1 - -
US loan notes (7.85% to 8.09%) 2009/14 25.1 28.0 25.1 28.0
US loan notes (6.56%) 2009 55.9 62.1 55.9 62.1

136.9 152.2 81.0 90.1

Other loans
Secured 0.6 0.7 - -
Obligations under finance leases 0.1 - - -

0.7 0.7 - -

Total loans 140.9 182.7 81.0 115.6

Security consists of charges over the assets of certain overseas subsidiary undertakings.
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UK corporation tax 10.6 9.8 - -
Other taxation 37.0 33.0 - -
Social security 5.3 5.0 - -
Other creditors 0.8 0.7 0.8 1.5
Accruals and deferred income 135.3 138.8 1.6 2.7
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379.6 380.2 36.0 37.7
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Group Company
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Bank loans
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0.7 0.7 - -

Total loans 140.9 182.7 81.0 115.6

Security consists of charges over the assets of certain overseas subsidiary undertakings.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMI plc Annual Report 2003 6362 IMI plc Annual Report 2003

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Undrawn committed facilities
The Group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available at 31 December in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met were as follows:

2003 2002

£m £m

Expiring within one year 111 -
Expiring between one and two years 45 131
Expiring after more than two years 78 74

234 205

The weighted average life of these facilities is 1.7 years (2002: 2.6 years).

Net monetary assets and liabilities
The table below shows the Group’s transactional currency exposures as at 31 December that give rise to the net currency gains and losses
included in the profit and loss account. These include the monetary assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the operating unit involved, other than where such non-sterling liabilities are treated as hedges of net investments of
non-UK operations.

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)

Functional currency of Group operation Sterling US Dollar Euro Other Total
2003 2003 2003 2003 2003

£m £m £m £m £m

Sterling - 0.1 1.7 (0.1) 1.7
US Dollar (3.1) - (0.7) (0.9) (4.7)
Euro (0.5) (0.5) - - (1.0)
Other (2.0) 1.6 (1.4) (0.2) (2.0)

Total (5.6) 1.2 (0.4) (1.2) (6.0)

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)

Functional currency of Group operation Sterling US Dollar Euro Other Total
2002 2002 2002 2002 2002

£m £m £m £m £m

Sterling - (0.1) 2.5 - 2.4
US Dollar (1.4) - (0.2) 0.3 (1.3)
Euro (0.9) (0.5) - - (1.4)
Other 0.9 2.5 0.5 (0.7) 3.2

Total (1.4) 1.9 2.8 (0.4) 2.9

The amounts shown in the table above take into account the effect of any currency hedges entered into to manage these currency
exposures.

At 31 December 2003 the Group also held open various currency forward contracts taken out to hedge expected future foreign sales.

18. Financial instruments (continued)

Currency profile of interest exposure at 31 December 

Financial assets
Cash and exchange  Cash and exchange

contracts contracts
2003 2002

£m £m

Sterling 199 214
US Dollar 24 14
Euro 21 25
Other 30 28

Total 274 281

All financial assets are floating rate and comprise short term cash of £81m (2002: £74m) bearing interest at short term bank deposit rates and
the asset side of exchange contracts where the interest element is based primarily on three month interbank rate.

Financial liabilities

Debt and Weighted  
exchange Floating Fixed Weighted average period  
contracts rate rate average fixed for which

2003 2003 2003 interest rate rate is fixed 
£m £m £m %  (years)

Sterling 71 71 - - -
US Dollar 168 84 84 6.9 7.4
Euro 143 81 62 5.3 2.4
Other 29 29 - - -

Total 411 265 146

Financial liabilities

Debt and Weighted
exchange Floating Fixed Weighted average period
contracts rate rate average fixed for which

2002 2002 2002 interest rate rate is fixed 
£m £m £m %  (years)

Sterling 58 58 - - -
US Dollar 201 108 93 7.4 8.4
Euro 158 91 67 5.3 2.4
Other 38 38 - - -

Total 455 295 160

Interest rates are managed using fixed and floating rate debt and financial instruments including interest rate swaps. Floating rate liabilities
comprise short term debt which bears interest at short term bank rates and the liability side of exchange contracts where the interest
element is based primarily on three month interbank rate.

Short term trade debtors and creditors have been excluded from the above two analyses. There are no other material non-interest bearing
financial assets or liabilities.
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Interest rates are managed using fixed and floating rate debt and financial instruments including interest rate swaps. Floating rate liabilities
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Post-retirement liabilities are in respect of overseas pension liabilities and US post-retirement benefits which have not been separately
funded. At 31 December 2003 other provisions comprise mainly environmental and property lease provisions. Product warranties are given
in normal course of business and cover a range of periods, typically from 1-6 years. Rationalisation provision is expected to be fully utilised
within 1 year.

The liability for deferred tax calculated at 33% (2002: 32%)  is analysed as follows:

2003 2002
£m £m

Accelerated capital allowances 17.4 19.6
Losses - (0.9)
Other timing differences (9.4) (12.1)

8.0 6.6

18. Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments 2003 2002
Financial instruments by category: asset/(liability) Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

£m £m £m £m

Short term deposits 8.9 8.9 13.4 13.4
Cash at bank and in hand 72.4 72.4 60.9 60.9
Borrowings falling due within one year (76.7) (76.7) (65.1) (65.1)
Borrowings falling due after more than one year (140.9) (155.5) (182.7) (197.0)
Forward currency contracts - 2.3 - (0.5)
Interest rate instruments - 4.8 - 7.2

Where available market rates have been used to determine fair values. When market prices are not available, fair values have been calculated
by discounting cash flows at prevailing market rates.

Unrecognised gains and losses
The estimated current value of derivative currency and interest rate contracts entered into to hedge future transactional currency flows and
interest rate fluctuation exposure is set out below based on quoted market prices where available. Changes in the fair values of instruments
used as hedges are not recognised in the financial statements until the hedged position matures. An analysis of these unrecognised gains
and losses is as follows:

Total net
Gains Losses gains/(losses)

£m £m £m

Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 December 2002 11.7 (4.2) 7.5

Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised in 2003 1.8 (1.4) 0.4
Gains and losses arising in previous years that were not recognised in 2003 9.9 (2.8) 7.1
Gains and losses arising but not recognised in 2003 (1.3) (0.4) (1.7)
Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 December 2003 8.6 (3.2) 5.4
of which:

Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2004 1.8 (1.5) 0.3
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2005 or later 6.8 (1.7) 5.1

20. Share capital
2003 2002

£m £m

Authorised
480m (2002: 480m) ordinary shares of 25p each 120.0 120.0

Issued and fully paid
353.3m (2002: 352.2m) ordinary shares of 25p each 88.3 88.1

During the year 1,107,667 shares were issued under employee share schemes realising £2.6m.

19. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred Post-retirement Trade
taxation liabilities warranties Rationalisation Other Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 6.6 28.9 17.9 13.1 14.5 81.0
Exchange adjustment 1.6 1.3 (0.1) 0.3 - 3.1
Acquisitions/disposals 0.2 - - - - 0.2
Utilised during the year - (1.0) (15.4) (13.6) (0.5) (30.5)
Profit and loss account (0.4) 1.8 15.2 5.7 - 22.3

At 31 December 2003 8.0 31.0 17.6 5.5 14.0 76.1
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in normal course of business and cover a range of periods, typically from 1-6 years. Rationalisation provision is expected to be fully utilised
within 1 year.

The liability for deferred tax calculated at 33% (2002: 32%)  is analysed as follows:

2003 2002
£m £m

Accelerated capital allowances 17.4 19.6
Losses - (0.9)
Other timing differences (9.4) (12.1)

8.0 6.6

18. Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments 2003 2002
Financial instruments by category: asset/(liability) Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

£m £m £m £m

Short term deposits 8.9 8.9 13.4 13.4
Cash at bank and in hand 72.4 72.4 60.9 60.9
Borrowings falling due within one year (76.7) (76.7) (65.1) (65.1)
Borrowings falling due after more than one year (140.9) (155.5) (182.7) (197.0)
Forward currency contracts - 2.3 - (0.5)
Interest rate instruments - 4.8 - 7.2

Where available market rates have been used to determine fair values. When market prices are not available, fair values have been calculated
by discounting cash flows at prevailing market rates.

Unrecognised gains and losses
The estimated current value of derivative currency and interest rate contracts entered into to hedge future transactional currency flows and
interest rate fluctuation exposure is set out below based on quoted market prices where available. Changes in the fair values of instruments
used as hedges are not recognised in the financial statements until the hedged position matures. An analysis of these unrecognised gains
and losses is as follows:

Total net
Gains Losses gains/(losses)

£m £m £m

Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 December 2002 11.7 (4.2) 7.5

Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised in 2003 1.8 (1.4) 0.4
Gains and losses arising in previous years that were not recognised in 2003 9.9 (2.8) 7.1
Gains and losses arising but not recognised in 2003 (1.3) (0.4) (1.7)
Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 December 2003 8.6 (3.2) 5.4
of which:

Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2004 1.8 (1.5) 0.3
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in 2005 or later 6.8 (1.7) 5.1

20. Share capital
2003 2002

£m £m

Authorised
480m (2002: 480m) ordinary shares of 25p each 120.0 120.0

Issued and fully paid
353.3m (2002: 352.2m) ordinary shares of 25p each 88.3 88.1

During the year 1,107,667 shares were issued under employee share schemes realising £2.6m.

19. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred Post-retirement Trade
taxation liabilities warranties Rationalisation Other Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 6.6 28.9 17.9 13.1 14.5 81.0
Exchange adjustment 1.6 1.3 (0.1) 0.3 - 3.1
Acquisitions/disposals 0.2 - - - - 0.2
Utilised during the year - (1.0) (15.4) (13.6) (0.5) (30.5)
Profit and loss account (0.4) 1.8 15.2 5.7 - 22.3

At 31 December 2003 8.0 31.0 17.6 5.5 14.0 76.1
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22. Acquisitions
There were no individually material acquisitions during the year.

Total
Book value at acquisition £m

Fixed assets 4.4
Working capital 10.6
Net borrowings (2.3)
Tax (0.6)

Net assets 12.1

Fair value to the Group 12.1
Purchase consideration 63.6

Goodwill arising in year 51.5

21. Reserves
Group

Share Profit
premium Revaluation Other and loss

account reserve reserves account Total
£m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 134.1 1.0 1.6 303.1 439.8
Retained profit for the year - - - 16.2 16.2
Currency translation differences - - - (7.2) (7.2)
Transfer 0.1 - - (0.1) -
Share premiums received 2.3 - - - 2.3

At 31 December 2003 136.5 1.0 1.6 312.0 451.1

Other reserves represent a capital redemption reserve. At the year end the aggregate amount of goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 
1 January 1998 deducted from profit and loss account reserves amounted to £366m (2002: £369m).

Currency translation differences include a gain of £15m  (2002: £23m) in respect of currency loans and hedging transactions used for overseas
investments.

Company
Share Profit

premium Other and loss
account reserves account Total

£m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 134.1 1.6 148.5 284.2
Retained profit for the year - - 142.5 142.5
Transfer 0.1 - (0.1) -
Share premiums received 2.3 - - 2.3

At 31 December 2003 136.5 1.6 290.9 429.0

Share options
The majority of UK employees may participate in the IMI SAYE Share Option (1994) Scheme and selected senior executives within the Group
participate in the IMI Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme. At 31 December 2003 options to purchase ordinary shares had been granted to
and not exercised by participants of IMI share option schemes as follows:

Date of Number

grant of shares Price Date of exercise 

IMI SAYE Share Option

(1994) Scheme 08.04.97 54,605 314p 01.07.04

07.04.98 101,446 365p 01.07.05

06.04.99 189,315 254p 01.08.04 or 01.08.06 

13.04.00 506,767 201p 01.07.05 or 01.07.07

09.04.01 769,514 201p 01.07.04, 01.07.06 or 

01.07.08

08.04.02 484,656 244p 01.08.05, 01.08.07 or

01.08.09

08.04.03 946,254 201p 01.08.06, 01.08.08 or

01.08.10

IMI Executive Share

Option (1985) Scheme 07.04.94 70,000 349.9p 07.04.97 to 07.04.04

11.04.95 153,300 301.3p 11.04.98 to 11.04.05

IMI Executive Share

Option (1995) Scheme 19.09.96 65,662 398.9p 19.09.99 to 19.09.06

26.03.97 268,600 390.8p 26.03.00 to 26.03.07

18.09.97 355,169 384.9p 18.09.00 to 18.09.07

25.03.98 387,090 455.1p 25.03.01 to 25.03.08

24.03.99 415,159 284.6p 24.03.02 to 24.03.09

22.03.00 376,150 226.6p 22.03.03 to 22.03.10

03.04.01 1,458,000 248.4p 03.04.04 to 03.04.11

24.09.01 1,110,500 214.4p 24.09.04 to 24.09.11

01.10.01 75,000 213.8p 01.10.04 to 01.10.11

03.04.02 1,460,000 309.1p 03.04.05 to 03.04.12

25.09.02 645,000 274.0p 25.09.05 to 25.09.12

02.04.03 2,250,500 256.9p 02.04.06 to 02.04.13

20. Share capital (continued)
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22. Acquisitions
There were no individually material acquisitions during the year.

Total
Book value at acquisition £m

Fixed assets 4.4
Working capital 10.6
Net borrowings (2.3)
Tax (0.6)

Net assets 12.1

Fair value to the Group 12.1
Purchase consideration 63.6

Goodwill arising in year 51.5

21. Reserves
Group

Share Profit
premium Revaluation Other and loss

account reserve reserves account Total
£m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 134.1 1.0 1.6 303.1 439.8
Retained profit for the year - - - 16.2 16.2
Currency translation differences - - - (7.2) (7.2)
Transfer 0.1 - - (0.1) -
Share premiums received 2.3 - - - 2.3

At 31 December 2003 136.5 1.0 1.6 312.0 451.1

Other reserves represent a capital redemption reserve. At the year end the aggregate amount of goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 
1 January 1998 deducted from profit and loss account reserves amounted to £366m (2002: £369m).

Currency translation differences include a gain of £15m  (2002: £23m) in respect of currency loans and hedging transactions used for overseas
investments.

Company
Share Profit

premium Other and loss
account reserves account Total

£m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 134.1 1.6 148.5 284.2
Retained profit for the year - - 142.5 142.5
Transfer 0.1 - (0.1) -
Share premiums received 2.3 - - 2.3

At 31 December 2003 136.5 1.6 290.9 429.0

Share options
The majority of UK employees may participate in the IMI SAYE Share Option (1994) Scheme and selected senior executives within the Group
participate in the IMI Executive Share Option (1995) Scheme. At 31 December 2003 options to purchase ordinary shares had been granted to
and not exercised by participants of IMI share option schemes as follows:

Date of Number

grant of shares Price Date of exercise 

IMI SAYE Share Option

(1994) Scheme 08.04.97 54,605 314p 01.07.04

07.04.98 101,446 365p 01.07.05

06.04.99 189,315 254p 01.08.04 or 01.08.06 

13.04.00 506,767 201p 01.07.05 or 01.07.07

09.04.01 769,514 201p 01.07.04, 01.07.06 or 

01.07.08

08.04.02 484,656 244p 01.08.05, 01.08.07 or

01.08.09

08.04.03 946,254 201p 01.08.06, 01.08.08 or

01.08.10

IMI Executive Share

Option (1985) Scheme 07.04.94 70,000 349.9p 07.04.97 to 07.04.04

11.04.95 153,300 301.3p 11.04.98 to 11.04.05

IMI Executive Share

Option (1995) Scheme 19.09.96 65,662 398.9p 19.09.99 to 19.09.06

26.03.97 268,600 390.8p 26.03.00 to 26.03.07

18.09.97 355,169 384.9p 18.09.00 to 18.09.07

25.03.98 387,090 455.1p 25.03.01 to 25.03.08

24.03.99 415,159 284.6p 24.03.02 to 24.03.09

22.03.00 376,150 226.6p 22.03.03 to 22.03.10

03.04.01 1,458,000 248.4p 03.04.04 to 03.04.11

24.09.01 1,110,500 214.4p 24.09.04 to 24.09.11

01.10.01 75,000 213.8p 01.10.04 to 01.10.11

03.04.02 1,460,000 309.1p 03.04.05 to 03.04.12

25.09.02 645,000 274.0p 25.09.05 to 25.09.12

02.04.03 2,250,500 256.9p 02.04.06 to 02.04.13

20. Share capital (continued)
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e)  Reconciliation of movement in net borrowings

Cash and Borrowings and finance Total net
deposits leases due debt

within 1 after more
year than 1 year

£m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 74.3 (65.1) (182.7) (173.5)
Cash flow 6.5 (6.7) 33.7 33.5
Currency translation differences 0.5 (4.9) 8.1 3.7

At 31 December 2003 81.3 (76.7) (140.9) (136.3)

24. Post-retirement liabilities

Defined benefit schemes
United Kingdom
The principal pension plan operated for UK employees is the IMI Pension Fund, a defined benefit plan set up under trust so that the Fund's
assets are held separately from those of the Company.

The latest formal actuarial valuation of the Fund for funding purposes was carried out as at 31 March 2002. This valuation revealed that, under
the methods and assumptions adopted, the Fund's assets were 106% of the accrued liabilities, allowing for projected future salary increases in
the case of members in service.

The actuarial method used to calculate the pension cost was the projected unit method. The most significant assumptions adopted were the
real (ie relative to the assumed rate of price inflation) long term rate of investment return at 3.9% pa and that this would exceed the increase
in earnings by 2.4% pa and the increase in pensions by 3.9% pa. Under the method and assumptions adopted, the value placed on the
Fund's assets was 90% of the market value and 106% of the value placed on the accrued liabilities. The market value of the assets as at 
31 March 2002 was £915m.

The pension cost charged to the profit and loss account is calculated by an independent actuary in such a way as to spread the cost of
pensions over the average remaining service life of employees in membership.

In view of the deterioration of financial  markets it was decided that funding reviews will be carried out annually. The 31 March 2003 review
saw the expected deterioration in the funding position reducing the surplus to £4m. As a result the cash contribution to the pension fund
was increased to the full pension cost with effect  from 1 April 2003. No net benefit was taken to the profit and loss account from amortising
surpluses less deficits on pension schemes in 2003 (2002: £5m).

Overseas
A number of local pension plans are operated for overseas employees. Some of these plans are funded in a similar way to the UK Fund but
others are 'book reserve' arrangements where the liability is shown on the balance sheet. In total the overseas defined benefit plans had
liabilities valued at approximately £51m of which £31m was in this type of 'book reserve' arrangement.

In the remaining funds assets of approximately £18m are currently held against liabilities of £20m.

The net benefit to the profit and loss account from amortising surpluses less deficits was negligible.

Defined contribution schemes
In addition to the above defined benefit schemes, the Group operates several defined contribution schemes throughout the world. In the
year to 31 December 2003 the total of employer contributions to these schemes was £4m.

23. Cash flow notes

2003 2002
£m £m

a) Return on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 5.8 5.9
Interest paid (16.8) (22.0)
Dividends to minorities (0.8) (0.6)

Net cash outflow for return on investments and servicing of finance (11.8) (16.7)

b) Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of fixed assets (50.0) (50.9)
Sale of fixed assets 4.5 8.8
Purchase of current asset investments (0.7) (0.9)
Proceeds from property sales 10.2 31.7

(36.0) (11.3)

c) Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (63.6) (49.1)
Deferred consideration not yet paid 3.8 -
Deferred consideration received 5.0 -
(Net overdrafts)/net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings (2.3) 2.2
Net cash of subsidiary disposed of (0.1) (1.3)
Sale of businesses 1.2 74.5

(56.0) 26.3

d) Purchase of subsidiary undertakings
Net assets acquired:

Tangible fixed assets 4.4 3.9
Stocks 5.1 7.4
Debtors 12.5 21.3
Creditors (7.0) (14.2)
(Overdrafts/borrowings)/cash (2.3) 2.2
Taxation (0.6) 1.1

12.1 21.7
Goodwill 51.5 27.4 

63.6 49.1

Acquisitions referred to on page 54 contributed a cash inflow of £5.4m to the Group’s net operating cash flow.
Disposals contributed an inflow of £0.5m.

Our air-conditioning business was sold in November 2003. Proceeds of £2.2m were in line with net assets disposed of.
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e)  Reconciliation of movement in net borrowings

Cash and Borrowings and finance Total net
deposits leases due debt

within 1 after more
year than 1 year

£m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2002 74.3 (65.1) (182.7) (173.5)
Cash flow 6.5 (6.7) 33.7 33.5
Currency translation differences 0.5 (4.9) 8.1 3.7

At 31 December 2003 81.3 (76.7) (140.9) (136.3)

24. Post-retirement liabilities

Defined benefit schemes
United Kingdom
The principal pension plan operated for UK employees is the IMI Pension Fund, a defined benefit plan set up under trust so that the Fund's
assets are held separately from those of the Company.

The latest formal actuarial valuation of the Fund for funding purposes was carried out as at 31 March 2002. This valuation revealed that, under
the methods and assumptions adopted, the Fund's assets were 106% of the accrued liabilities, allowing for projected future salary increases in
the case of members in service.

The actuarial method used to calculate the pension cost was the projected unit method. The most significant assumptions adopted were the
real (ie relative to the assumed rate of price inflation) long term rate of investment return at 3.9% pa and that this would exceed the increase
in earnings by 2.4% pa and the increase in pensions by 3.9% pa. Under the method and assumptions adopted, the value placed on the
Fund's assets was 90% of the market value and 106% of the value placed on the accrued liabilities. The market value of the assets as at 
31 March 2002 was £915m.

The pension cost charged to the profit and loss account is calculated by an independent actuary in such a way as to spread the cost of
pensions over the average remaining service life of employees in membership.

In view of the deterioration of financial  markets it was decided that funding reviews will be carried out annually. The 31 March 2003 review
saw the expected deterioration in the funding position reducing the surplus to £4m. As a result the cash contribution to the pension fund
was increased to the full pension cost with effect  from 1 April 2003. No net benefit was taken to the profit and loss account from amortising
surpluses less deficits on pension schemes in 2003 (2002: £5m).

Overseas
A number of local pension plans are operated for overseas employees. Some of these plans are funded in a similar way to the UK Fund but
others are 'book reserve' arrangements where the liability is shown on the balance sheet. In total the overseas defined benefit plans had
liabilities valued at approximately £51m of which £31m was in this type of 'book reserve' arrangement.

In the remaining funds assets of approximately £18m are currently held against liabilities of £20m.

The net benefit to the profit and loss account from amortising surpluses less deficits was negligible.

Defined contribution schemes
In addition to the above defined benefit schemes, the Group operates several defined contribution schemes throughout the world. In the
year to 31 December 2003 the total of employer contributions to these schemes was £4m.

23. Cash flow notes

2003 2002
£m £m

a) Return on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 5.8 5.9
Interest paid (16.8) (22.0)
Dividends to minorities (0.8) (0.6)

Net cash outflow for return on investments and servicing of finance (11.8) (16.7)

b) Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of fixed assets (50.0) (50.9)
Sale of fixed assets 4.5 8.8
Purchase of current asset investments (0.7) (0.9)
Proceeds from property sales 10.2 31.7

(36.0) (11.3)

c) Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (63.6) (49.1)
Deferred consideration not yet paid 3.8 -
Deferred consideration received 5.0 -
(Net overdrafts)/net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings (2.3) 2.2
Net cash of subsidiary disposed of (0.1) (1.3)
Sale of businesses 1.2 74.5

(56.0) 26.3

d) Purchase of subsidiary undertakings
Net assets acquired:

Tangible fixed assets 4.4 3.9
Stocks 5.1 7.4
Debtors 12.5 21.3
Creditors (7.0) (14.2)
(Overdrafts/borrowings)/cash (2.3) 2.2
Taxation (0.6) 1.1

12.1 21.7
Goodwill 51.5 27.4 

63.6 49.1

Acquisitions referred to on page 54 contributed a cash inflow of £5.4m to the Group’s net operating cash flow.
Disposals contributed an inflow of £0.5m.

Our air-conditioning business was sold in November 2003. Proceeds of £2.2m were in line with net assets disposed of.
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24. Post-retirement liabilities (continued)
FRS 17 disclosure

The Group continues to account for pension costs in accordance with Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 24: ‘Pension costs’. Under FRS
17: ‘Retirement benefits’ the following transitional disclosures are required:

The valuations used for FRS 17 disclosures have been based upon the most recent actuarial reviews updated by the scheme actuaries to take
account of the requirements of FRS 17. The most recent actuarial review of the main UK scheme was as at 31 March 2003. Schemes have
been aggregated below and weighted averages applied.

The major financial assumptions used to calculate scheme liabilities at 31 December under FRS 17 are:

*Of the overseas unfunded liabilities of £23m (£35m offset by associated deferred tax asset of £12m), £20m (£31m less deferred tax of £11m)
is already  recognised within the Group balance sheet on a SSAP24 basis, together with a pension prepayment of £4m (see notes 15 and 19).
Full implementation of FRS 17 at 31 December 2003 would therefore have resulted in the recognition of a further liability of £76m as analysed
below.

If FRS 17 had been adopted in the financial statements, the Group's net assets and profit and loss reserve at 31 December would have been
as follows:

2003 2002
£m £m

Net assets 
Net assets per Group balance sheet 543 531
Add back unfunded pension liability net of deferred tax (SSAP24 basis) 20 18
Deduct pension prepayment (4) (5)
FRS 17 net pension liability (92) (97)

Net assets as adjusted 467 447

Reserves
Profit and loss reserve per Group balance sheet 312 303
Add back unfunded pension liability net of deferred tax (SSAP24 basis) 20 18
Deduct pension prepayment (4) (5)
FRS 17 net pension liability (92) (97)

Profit and loss reserve as adjusted 236 219

2003 2002 2001

UK Overseas UK Overseas UK Overseas
% % % % % %

Rate of increase in salaries 4.4 3.3 4.0 4.4 4.2 4.1
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.7 0.9 2.3 1.4 2.5 0.6
Discount rate 5.4 5.7 5.6 6.2 5.8 6.7
Inflation assumption 2.7 2.0 2.3 2.9 2.5 2.6

The assets in the schemes and the expected long term rates of return at 31 December were:

2003 2002 2001

Rate of return UK Overseas UK Overseas UK Overseas
% % % % % %

Equities 8.1 8.2 8.2 8.0 7.8 8.7
Bonds 5.1 5.7 4.9 6.0 5.0 6.8
Property - - 7.2 - 7.8 -
Other 4.0 5.0 4.0 5.5 4.0 -

7.0 7.0 7.0 7.2 6.8 8.2

2003 2002 2001

Value UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities 536 11 547 484 14 498 580 24 604
Bonds 216 4 220 235 5 240 274 7 281
Property - - - 23 - 23 22 - 22
Other 47 4 51 28 3 31 37 - 37

Total market value of assets 799 19 818 770 22 792 913 31 944
Present value of funded scheme liabilities (889) (29) (918) (868) (35) (903) (862) (30) (892)

(Deficit)/surplus on funded schemes (90) (10) (100) (98) (13) (111) 51 1 52
Present value of unfunded scheme liabilities* - (35) (35) - (34) (34) - (27) (27)

(Deficit)/surplus in all schemes (90) (45) (135) (98) (47) (145) 51 (26) 25

Related deferred tax asset/(liability) 43 48 (13)

Net pension (liability)/asset (92) (97) 12
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24. Post-retirement liabilities (continued)
FRS 17 disclosure

The Group continues to account for pension costs in accordance with Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 24: ‘Pension costs’. Under FRS
17: ‘Retirement benefits’ the following transitional disclosures are required:

The valuations used for FRS 17 disclosures have been based upon the most recent actuarial reviews updated by the scheme actuaries to take
account of the requirements of FRS 17. The most recent actuarial review of the main UK scheme was as at 31 March 2003. Schemes have
been aggregated below and weighted averages applied.

The major financial assumptions used to calculate scheme liabilities at 31 December under FRS 17 are:

*Of the overseas unfunded liabilities of £23m (£35m offset by associated deferred tax asset of £12m), £20m (£31m less deferred tax of £11m)
is already  recognised within the Group balance sheet on a SSAP24 basis, together with a pension prepayment of £4m (see notes 15 and 19).
Full implementation of FRS 17 at 31 December 2003 would therefore have resulted in the recognition of a further liability of £76m as analysed
below.

If FRS 17 had been adopted in the financial statements, the Group's net assets and profit and loss reserve at 31 December would have been
as follows:

2003 2002
£m £m

Net assets 
Net assets per Group balance sheet 543 531
Add back unfunded pension liability net of deferred tax (SSAP24 basis) 20 18
Deduct pension prepayment (4) (5)
FRS 17 net pension liability (92) (97)

Net assets as adjusted 467 447

Reserves
Profit and loss reserve per Group balance sheet 312 303
Add back unfunded pension liability net of deferred tax (SSAP24 basis) 20 18
Deduct pension prepayment (4) (5)
FRS 17 net pension liability (92) (97)

Profit and loss reserve as adjusted 236 219

2003 2002 2001

UK Overseas UK Overseas UK Overseas
% % % % % %

Rate of increase in salaries 4.4 3.3 4.0 4.4 4.2 4.1
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.7 0.9 2.3 1.4 2.5 0.6
Discount rate 5.4 5.7 5.6 6.2 5.8 6.7
Inflation assumption 2.7 2.0 2.3 2.9 2.5 2.6

The assets in the schemes and the expected long term rates of return at 31 December were:

2003 2002 2001

Rate of return UK Overseas UK Overseas UK Overseas
% % % % % %

Equities 8.1 8.2 8.2 8.0 7.8 8.7
Bonds 5.1 5.7 4.9 6.0 5.0 6.8
Property - - 7.2 - 7.8 -
Other 4.0 5.0 4.0 5.5 4.0 -

7.0 7.0 7.0 7.2 6.8 8.2

2003 2002 2001

Value UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities 536 11 547 484 14 498 580 24 604
Bonds 216 4 220 235 5 240 274 7 281
Property - - - 23 - 23 22 - 22
Other 47 4 51 28 3 31 37 - 37

Total market value of assets 799 19 818 770 22 792 913 31 944
Present value of funded scheme liabilities (889) (29) (918) (868) (35) (903) (862) (30) (892)

(Deficit)/surplus on funded schemes (90) (10) (100) (98) (13) (111) 51 1 52
Present value of unfunded scheme liabilities* - (35) (35) - (34) (34) - (27) (27)

(Deficit)/surplus in all schemes (90) (45) (135) (98) (47) (145) 51 (26) 25

Related deferred tax asset/(liability) 43 48 (13)

Net pension (liability)/asset (92) (97) 12
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25. Operating leases

Group annual commitments under operating leases expiring:

2003 2002
Land and Land and
buildings Others buildings Others

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 3.0 2.7 2.1 2.4
In the second to fifth year 10.2 5.2 8.5 3.7
After five years 5.9 0.1 4.2 -

19.1 8.0 14.8 6.1

26. Commitments

Group contracts in respect of future capital expenditure which had been placed at the balance sheet date amounted to £5m (2002: £6m).

Foreign exchange commitments at the balance sheet date amounted to £282m  (2002: £347m).

27. Contingencies

The European Commission is investigating allegations of anti-competitive behaviour among certain manufacturers of copper tube and
copper fittings. Notwithstanding IMI's disposals of its Copper Tube and Copper Fittings businesses in 2002, it retains responsibility in relation
to the European Commission's investigations in respect of those businesses. In September 2003 IMI received a Statement of Objections in
respect of copper plumbing tube and this investigation is expected to result in a fine during the next six months. The copper fittings
investigation is at an earlier stage, with a Statement of Objections expected within the next twelve months and a decision on any fine unlikely
to be made by the Commission before the second half of 2005. It is not possible to give any reliable estimate of the likely level of fines in
either case.

Group contingent liabilities relating to guarantees in the normal course of business and other items amounted to £49m (2002: £49m).

There is a right of set-off with four of the Company's bankers relating to the balances of the Company and a number of its wholly-owned 
UK subsidiaries.

24. Post-retirement liabilities (continued)

The components of the defined benefit (DB) cost in the profit and loss account and statement of total recognised gains and losses (STRGL)
would have been as follows:

2003 2002
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of amounts charged to operating profits:
Current service cost (10) (2) (12) (15) (2) (17)
Past service costs - - - - (1) (1)

Total charged to operating profit in respect of DB members (10) (2) (12) (15) (3) (18)

Analysis of other amounts (charged)/credited to profit and loss account:
Loss due to settlements (1) - (1) - - -
(Loss)/gain due to curtailments - (1) (1) 20 - 20

Net (loss)/gain (charged)/credited to non-operating exceptional items (1) (1) (2) 20 - 20

Analysis of amount (charged)/credited to other finance income:
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (48) (4) (52) (49) (4) (53)
Expected return on assets in the pension scheme 53 1 54 61 2 63

Net credit/(charge) to other finance income 5 (3) 2 12 (2) 10

Total P&L (charge)/credit before deduction for tax (6) (6) (12) 17 (5) 12

Analysis of amounts recognised in STRGL:
Gain/(loss) on assets 55 (1) 54 (163) (12) (175)
Experience gain on liabilities 12 9 21 6 - 6
Loss on change of assumptions (financial & demographic) (59) (2) (61) (12) (6) (18)
Currency loss - (1) (1) - (1) (1)

2003 2002
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Reconciliation of the movement in (deficit)/surplus in the 
schemes during the period:

(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme at beginning of period (98) (47) (145) 51 (26) 25
Company contributions paid 6 3 9 3 3 6
Current service cost (10) (2) (12) (15) (2) (17)
Past service cost - - - - (1) (1)
Settlement cost (1) - (1) - - -
Curtailment (loss)/gain - (1) (1) 20 - 20
Other finance income/(charge) 5 (3) 2 12 (2) 10
Actuarial gain/(loss) 8 6 14 (169) (18) (187)
Currency loss - (1) (1) - (1) (1)

Deficit in the scheme at end of period (90) (45) (135) (98) (47) (145)

History of experience gains and losses
2003 2002

UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of the movement in surplus/(deficit) in the schemes
during the period:

Gain/(loss) on scheme assets
Amount 55 (1) 54 (163) (12) (175)
% of scheme assets at end of period 7 (5) 7 (21) (55) (22)

Experience gain on scheme liabilities
Amount 12 9 21 6 - 6
% of scheme liabilities at end of period 1 14 2 1 - 1

Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in STRGL
Amount 8 6 14 (169) (18) (187)
% of scheme liabilities at end of period 1 9 1 (20) (26) (20)
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25. Operating leases
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+ IMI Kynoch Ltd

IMI Property Investments Ltd

IMI Vision Ltd

The following is a list of the Company's subsidiary undertakings, except for some intermediate
holding companies and certain other undertakings of minor importance which are excluded by
virtue of sub-section 231(5) of the Companies Act 1985. Except where indicated, the undertakings 
are subsidiaries incorporated in Great Britain and the share capital consists of ordinary shares only.
The principal country in which each subsidiary operates is the country of incorporation. The
Company's effective interest in the undertakings listed is 100%, except where indicated, and is held 
in each case by a subsidiary undertaking, except for those marked + in which case it is held directly
by the Company.

Aero Dynamiek BV Holland

Asterm SAS France

CCI AG Switzerland

CCI KK Japan

CCI Valve Technology AB Sweden

CCI Valve Technology GesmbH Austria

Commtech Ltd

Control Components Inc USA

EVU Energi & VVS Utveckling AB Sweden

Flow Design Inc USA

Herion Fluidtronik Corporation Ltd China

Herion Systemtechnik GmbH Germany 

Herion USA Inc USA (90%)

IMI Components Ltd

IMI Indoor Climate Ltda Brazil

IMI International Kft Hungary

IMI International sro The Czech Republic

IMI International sp zoo Poland

IMI Norgren Pty Ltd Australia

IMI Norgren A/S Denmark

IMI Norgren AB Sweden

IMI Norgren AG Switzerland

IMI Norgren AS Norway

IMI Norgren Automotive GmbH Germany 

IMI Norgren Automotive Inc USA

Artform International Ltd (92.2%)

Cannon Equipment Co USA

Cannon Equipment Midwest Inc USA

Cannon Equipment Southeast Inc USA

Cannon Equipment West Inc USA  

Creative Identities Ltd

DCI Marketing Inc USA 

Display Technologies LLC USA (80.1%)

Display Technologies (Europe) Ltd

Gaskell and Chambers Ltd

IMI Norgren Buschjost GmbH & Co KG

Germany (90%)

IMI Norgren BV Holland

IMI Norgren GesmbH Austria

IMI Norgren GmbH Germany

IMI Norgren Herion Pvt Ltd India

IMI Norgren Inc USA

IMI Norgren Leibfried GmbH Germany

IMI Norgren Ltd

IMI Norgren Ltd Hong Kong

IMI Norgren Ltd Canada

IMI Norgren Ltd New Zealand

IMI Norgren Ltda Brazil

IMI Norgren NV Belgium

IMI Norgren Oy Finland

IMI Norgren Pneumatics

(Shanghai) Co Ltd China

IMI Norgren Pte Ltd Singapore

IMI Norgren SA de CV Mexico

IMI Norgren SAS France

IMI Norgren SA Spain

IMI Norgren Sdn Bhd Malaysia

IMI Norgren SpA Italy

IMI Norgren Terracco SA Spain

IMI Scott Ltd

IMI Watson Smith Ltd

IMI Webber Ltd   

Inva Engineering AS Norway

Norgren European Logistics Ltd

Phoenix Interiors Ltd

STI Strumentazione Industriale SpA Italy

The Commtech Group Ltd

Theodor Heimeier Metallwerk GmbH & Co KG

Germany

Tour & Andersson A/S Denmark

Tour & Andersson AB Sweden

Tour & Andersson AS Norway

Tour & Andersson BV Holland

Tour & Andersson GesmbH Austria

Tour & Andersson Hydronics GmbH Germany 

Tour & Andersson Hydronics sro The Czech 

Republic

Tour & Andersson Hydronics sp zoo Poland

Tour & Andersson Ltd

Tour & Andersson NV Belgium

Tour & Andersson Oy Finland

Tour & Andersson Pte Ltd Singapore

Tour & Andersson SA France

Tour & Andersson SA Spain

IMI Bevcore Solutions Inc USA   

IMI Cornelius España SA Spain

IMI Cornelius Europe SA Spain

IMI Cornelius (New Zealand) Ltd New Zealand    

IMI Cornelius (Pacific) Ltd Hong Kong

IMI Cornelius (Tianjin) Co Ltd China

IMI Cornelius (UK) Ltd

IMI Cornelius Australia Pty Ltd Australia

IMI Cornelius de Mexico SA de CV Mexico

IMI Cornelius Deutschland GmbH Germany  

IMI Cornelius Equipco Inc USA

+ IMI Cornelius Group Ltd

IMI Cornelius Hellas SA Greece

IMI Cornelius Inc USA

IMI Cornelius Italia srl Italy

IMI Cornelius Jet Spray Inc USA 

IMI Cornelius Österreich GesmbH Austria

Melrose Displays Inc 

(Cannon Melrose Displays)   USA

Objex Ltd

Anchor - Fast Products Ltd

Domus Ducting Polska sp zoo Poland                     

Domus Ventilation Ltd

Effast (UK) Ltd            

Effast srl Italy 

Eley Ltd

Gabo Systemtechnik GmbH Germany 

Hexatherm Energietechnik GesmbH Austria

Hydrotub Polypipe SA France 

Janoplast SA France

Mason Pinder (Toolmakers) Ltd

Meridionale des Plastiques SA   France

Oasis Leisure Products Ltd

Pagette Sanitär Produktions und Vertriebs

GmbH Germany

Polypipe (Ulster) Ltd

Polypipe Bathroom & Kitchen Products Ltd

Polypipe Building Products Ltd

Polypipe Civils Ltd

Polypipe France SA France 

Premier Profiles Ltd 

Robimatic Ltd

TDI (UK) Ltd

Valtech Sarl France

Wolverhampton Abrasives Ltd (66%)

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

FLUID CONTROLS

BUILDING PRODUCTS

CORPORATE

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

RETAIL DISPENSE
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1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
£m £m £m £m £m

UK 397 469 488 463 428
Germany 220 204 196 170 186
Rest of Europe 358 383 384 369 348
USA 374 397 414 450 447
Asia/Pacific 87 95 95 97 101
Rest of World 66 67 65 63 63

1502 1615 1642 1612 1573

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
£m £m £m £m £m

Profit and loss account
Sales 1502 1615 1642 1612 1573

Profit before tax, exceptional 
items and goodwill amortisation 145 148 81 99 137
Goodwill amortisation (9) (15) (16) (18) (20)
Exceptional items (13) 11 21 (7) -

Profit before taxation 123 144 86 74 117

Group sales by destination

Earnings and dividends Restated
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Adjusted earnings per share (as previously published) 28.0p 28.6p
Adjusted earnings per share (pre rationalisation) 29.9p 26.7p 25.0p 26.8p
Earnings per share 22.6p 27.0p 18.3p 15.7p 20.1p
Ordinary dividend per share 15.1p 15.5p 15.5p 15.5p 15.5p

Balance sheet 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
£m £m £m £m £m

Net operating assets 661 682 616 473 440
Goodwill 246 286 298 303 318
Other non-operating assets (excluding borrowings) (90) (89) (76) (72) (79)
Net borrowings (388) (403) (345) (173) (136)

Net assets 429 476 493 531 543
Goodwill amortisation 9 25 41 58 87

Net assets plus amortisation 438 501 534 589 630
Goodwill written off to reserves 415 422 411 369 366

Total investment 853 923 945 958 996

Statistics Restated
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Profit* as a percentage of sales
As previously published 9.7% 9.2%
Before rationalisation 9.6% 7.7% 8.2% 9.1%

Profit* as a percentage of net assets plus amortisation
As previously published 33.1% 29.5%
Before rationalisation 30.9% 23.6% 22.3% 22.6%

Profit* as a percentage of total investment
As previously published 17.0% 16.0%
Before rationalisation 16.8% 13.3% 13.7% 14.3%

Net assets per share 122.3p 135.5p 140.3p 150.8p 153.7p

Net borrowings as a percentage
of shareholders' funds 90.4% 84.6% 70.4% 32.9% 25.3%

Interest cover* 
As previously published  10 6
Before rationalisation 6 6 9 14

Dividend cover* 
As previously published  1.8 1.8
Before rationalisation 1.9 1.7 1.6 1.7

* before exceptional items and goodwill amortisation

2003 Sales by geographical
destination

Sales £m

Profit before tax, exceptional items
and goodwill amortisation £m

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

145 148 81 99 137

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

1502 1615 1642 1612 1573

UK 
27%

Germany 
12%

Rest of Europe 
22%

USA 
28%

Asia/Pacific
7%

Rest of World 
4%
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Announcement of trading results
The trading results for the Group for the first half of 2004 will be announced on 6 September 2004.

The trading results for the full year ending 31 December 2004 will be announced in March 2005.

Trading updates are also issued around the mid-year and in December.

Dividend payments
Dividends on ordinary shares are normally paid as follows:

Interim: mid-October
Final: mid-May

Share prices and capital gains tax
The closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange on 31 December 2003 was 337.25p per share compared
with 262.5p per share on 31 December 2002.

The market value of the Company’s ordinary shares on 31 March 1982, as calculated for capital gains tax purposes, was 53.5p per share.

The Company’s SEAQ number is 51443.

Enquiries about shareholdings
For enquiries concerning shareholders' personal holdings please contact the Company's registrar:
Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA (telephone: 0870 600 3953).

Corporate Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
By arrangement with Lloyds TSB Registrars, an IMI single company ISA is now being operated. A brochure, application form and further
information can be obtained by contacting the Lloyds TSB Registrars ISA Helpline on 0870 24 24 244.

Share Dealing Service
Managed by Cazenove & Co, the Company's stockbrokers, the IMI plc Share Dealing Service provides shareholders with a simple way of
buying and selling IMI ordinary shares. Full written details can be obtained from Secretary’s Department, IMI plc, Lakeside, Solihull Parkway,
Birmingham Business Park, Birmingham, B37 7XZ (telephone: 0121 717 3700).

Ordinary shareholders

Range: Number of Balance as at
holdings % 31 December 2003 %

1-500 shares 6,731 28.14 1,936,330 0.55
501-1,000 shares 6,582 27.52 4,867,220 1.38
1,001-10,000 shares 9,718 40.63 23,219,095 6.57
10,001-100,000 shares 572 2.39 16,967,014 4.80
100,001-highest 315 1.32 306,351,567 86.70

Total 23,918 100.00 353,341,226 100.00

Headquarters and registered office

Lakeside

Solihull Parkway

Birmingham Business Park

Birmingham  

B37 7XZ

Telephone: 0121 717 3700

Website address

www.imiplc.com

Secretary

John O'Shea

Registrars

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway

Worthing 

West Sussex 

BN99 6DA

Telephone: 0870 600 3953

Solicitors

Pinsents

3 Colmore Circus

Birmingham  

B4 6BH

Allen & Overy

One New Change

London  

EC4M 9QQ

Stockbrokers

Cazenove & Co.

20 Moorgate

London  

EC2R 6DA

Citigroup

Canada Square

Canary Wharf

London  

E14 5LB

Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc

2 Cornwall Street

Birmingham  

B3 2DL

IMI plc is registered in England 

No.714275

The paper used in the production of this report is sourced from sustainable forests, consists of

up to 50% recycled fibre, is recyclable, biodegradable and is elemental chlorine-free.

Designed and produced by Design Principles CV35 0HP. Printed by GoodmanBaylis WR5 2JH.
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Announcement of trading results
The trading results for the Group for the first half of 2004 will be announced on 6 September 2004.

The trading results for the full year ending 31 December 2004 will be announced in March 2005.

Trading updates are also issued around the mid-year and in December.

Dividend payments
Dividends on ordinary shares are normally paid as follows:

Interim: mid-October
Final: mid-May

Share prices and capital gains tax
The closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange on 31 December 2003 was 337.25p per share compared
with 262.5p per share on 31 December 2002.

The market value of the Company’s ordinary shares on 31 March 1982, as calculated for capital gains tax purposes, was 53.5p per share.

The Company’s SEAQ number is 51443.

Enquiries about shareholdings
For enquiries concerning shareholders' personal holdings please contact the Company's registrar:
Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA (telephone: 0870 600 3953).

Corporate Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
By arrangement with Lloyds TSB Registrars, an IMI single company ISA is now being operated. A brochure, application form and further
information can be obtained by contacting the Lloyds TSB Registrars ISA Helpline on 0870 24 24 244.

Share Dealing Service
Managed by Cazenove & Co, the Company's stockbrokers, the IMI plc Share Dealing Service provides shareholders with a simple way of
buying and selling IMI ordinary shares. Full written details can be obtained from Secretary’s Department, IMI plc, Lakeside, Solihull Parkway,
Birmingham Business Park, Birmingham, B37 7XZ (telephone: 0121 717 3700).

Ordinary shareholders

Range: Number of Balance as at
holdings % 31 December 2003 %

1-500 shares 6,731 28.14 1,936,330 0.55
501-1,000 shares 6,582 27.52 4,867,220 1.38
1,001-10,000 shares 9,718 40.63 23,219,095 6.57
10,001-100,000 shares 572 2.39 16,967,014 4.80
100,001-highest 315 1.32 306,351,567 86.70

Total 23,918 100.00 353,341,226 100.00

Headquarters and registered office

Lakeside

Solihull Parkway

Birmingham Business Park

Birmingham  

B37 7XZ

Telephone: 0121 717 3700

Website address

www.imiplc.com

Secretary

John O'Shea

Registrars

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway

Worthing 

West Sussex 

BN99 6DA

Telephone: 0870 600 3953

Solicitors

Pinsents

3 Colmore Circus

Birmingham  

B4 6BH

Allen & Overy

One New Change

London  

EC4M 9QQ

Stockbrokers

Cazenove & Co.

20 Moorgate

London  

EC2R 6DA

Citigroup

Canada Square

Canary Wharf

London  

E14 5LB

Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc

2 Cornwall Street

Birmingham  

B3 2DL
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